STATE OF ILLINOIS William G. Stratton, Governor DEPARTMENT OF REGISTRATION AND EDUCATION Vera M. Binks, Director



1958

OXIDATION OF COAL

G. R. Yohe

REPORT OF INVESTIGATIONS 207

ILLINOIS STATE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY JOHN C. FRYE, Chief URBANA, ILLINOIS

OXIDATION OF COAL

G. R. Yohe

Illinois State Geological Survey Report of Investigations 207 Urbana, Illinois 1958

PRINTED BY AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

STATE OF ILLINOIS HON, WILLIAM G. STRATTON, Governor DEPARTMENT OF REGISTRATION AND EDUCATION HON, VERA M. BINKS, Director

BOARD OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND CONSERVATION

HON. VERA M. BINKS, Chairman W. H. NEWHOUSE, PH.D., Geology ROGER ADAMS, PH.D., D.Sc., LL.D., Chemistry ROBERT H. ANDERSON, B.S., Engineering A. E. EMERSON, PH.D., Biology LEWIS H. TIFFANY, PH.D., PD.D., Forestry DEAN W. L. EVERITT, E.E., PH.D., University of Illinois PRESIDENT DELYTE W. MORRIS, PH.D., Southern Illinois University

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY DIVISION JOHN C. FRYE, PH.D., D.Sc., Chief



STATE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY DIVISION-Urbana, Illinois.

JOHN C. FRYE, PH.D., D.Sc., Chief

M. M. LEIGHTON, PH.D., D.Sc., Chief, Emeritus

ENID TOWNLEY, M.S., Geologist and Assistant to the Chief

HELEN E. McMorris, Secretary to the Chief

Velda A. Millard, Junior Assistant to the Chief

GEOLOGICAL GROUP

M. L. THOMPSON, PH.D., Principal Geologist Arthur Bevan, Ph.D., D.Sc., Principal Geologist, Emeritus Frances H. Alsterlund, A.B., Research Assistant

COAL

JACK A. SIMON, M.S., Geologist and Head G. H. CADY, PH.D., Senior Geologist and Head, Emeritus

ROBERT M. KOSANKE, PH.D., Geologist JOHN A. HARRISON, M.S., Associate Geologist PAUL EDWIN POTTER, PH.D., Associate Geologist (on leave)

WILLIAM H. SMITH, M.S., Associate Geologist KENNETH E. CLEGG, M.S., Assistant Geologist MARGARET A. PARKER, M.S., Assistant Geologist DAVID L. REINERTSEN, A.M., Assistant Geologist MARCIA R. WINSLOW, M.Sc., Assistant Geologist

OIL AND GAS

A. H. BELL, PH.D., Geologist and Head VIRGINIA KLINE, PH.D., Associate Geologist LESTER L. WHITING, B.A., Associate Geologist WAYNE F. MEENTS, Associate Geological Engineer JUTTA I. ANDERSON, Technical Assistant

PETROLEUM ENGINEERING

CARL W. SHERMAN, M.S., Petroleum Engineer and Head

INDUSTRIAL MINERALS

J. E. LAMAR, B.S., Geologist and Head DONALD L. GRAF, PH.D., Geologist JAMES C. BRADBURY, A.M., Associate Geologist JAMES W. BAXTER, M.S., Assistant Geologist MEREDITH E. OSTROM, M.S., Assistant Geologist

PHYSICS

R. J. PIERSOL, PH.D., Physicist, Emeritus

CHEMICAL GROUP

COAL CHEMISTRY

G. R. YOHE, PH.D., Chemist and Head THOMAS P. MAHER, B.S., Special Associate Chemist JOSEPH M. HARRIS, B.A., Research Assistant

PHYSICAL CHEMISTRY

J. S. Machin, Ph.D., *Chemist and Head* Jose M. Serratosa, Dr.Sc., *Special Associate* Chemist

NEIL F. SHIMP, PH.D., Associate Chemist DANIEL L. DEADMORE, M.S., Assistant Chemist JUANITA WITTERS, M.S., Assistant Physicist

FLUORINE CHEMISTRY

G. C. FINGER, PH.D., Chemist and Head LAURENCE D. STARR, PH.D., Associate Chemist DONALD R. DICKERSON, B.S., Special Assistant Chemist

RICHARD H. SHILEY, B.S., Special Research Assistant RAYMOND H. WHITE, B.S., Special Research Assistant

X-RAY

W. F. BRADLEY, PH.D., Chemist and Head

CLAY RESOURCES AND CLAY MINERAL TECHNOLOGY

RALPH E. GRIM, PH.D., Consulting Clay Mineralogist W. ARTHUR WHITE, PH.D., Geologist Herbert D. GLASS, PH.D., Associate Geologist

GROUNDWATER GEOLOGY AND GEOPHYSI-CAL EXPLORATION

GEORGE B. MAXEY, PH.D., Geologist and Head MERLYN B. BUHLE, M.S., Geologist ROBERT E. BERGSTROM, PH.D., Associate Geologist JAMES E. HACKETT, M.S., Associate Geologist JOHN P. KEMPTON, M.A., Assistant Geologist WAYNE A. PRYOR, M.S., Assistant Geologist LIDIA SELKREGG, D.NAT.SCI., Assistant Geologist GROVER H. EMRICH, M.S., Research Assistant LOWELL A. REED, B.S., Research Assistant MARGARET J. CASTLE. Assistant Geologic Draftsma MARGARET J. CASTLE, Assistant Geologic Draftsman (on leave)

ENGINEERING GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHIC MAPPING

GEORGE E. EKBLAW, PH.D., Geologist and Head WILLIAM C. SMITH, M.A., Assistant Geologist

STRATIGRAPHY AND AREAL GEOLOGY

H. B. WILLMAN, PH.D., Geologist and Head ELWOOD ATHERTON, PH.D., Geologist DAVID H. SWANN, PH.D., Geologist CHARLES W. COLLINSON, PH.D., Associate Geologist CHARLES W. COLLINSON, I.H.D., Associate Geologist
JOHN A. BROPHY, M.S., Assistant Geologist
T. C. BUSCHBACH, M.S., Assistant Geologist
F. L. DOYLE, M.S., Assistant Geologist
ROBERT W. FRAME, Supervisory Technical Assistant
ROMAYNE S. ZIROLI, Technical Assistant JOSEPH F. HOWARD, Assistant

GRACE C. FINGER, B.S., Research Assistant

CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

H. W. JACKMAN, M.S.E., Chemical Engineer and Head R. J. HELFINSTINE, M.S., Mechanical and Administrative Engineer

B. J. GREENWOOD, B.S., Mechanical Engineer ROBERT L. EISSLER, M.S., Assistant Chemical

Engineer JAMES C. McCullough, Research Associate (on leave) WALTER E. COOPER, Technical Assistant

CORNEL MARTA, Technical Assistant

Edward A. Schaede, Technical Assistant

ANALYTICAL CHEMISTRY

NALY IICAL CHEMISIRY O. W. REES, PH.D., Chemist and Head L. D. MCVICKER, B.S., Chemist EMILE D. PIERRON, M.S., Associate Chemist WILLIAM J. ARMON, M.S., Assistant Chemist FRANCIS A. COOLICAN, B.S., Assistant Chemist MARY ANN MILLER, B.S., Research Assistant LOUISE J. PORTER, A.B., Research Assistant ISTVAN PUSZTASZERI, Research Assistant JOANNE K. WILKEN, B.A., Research Assistant GEORGE R. JAMES, Technical Assistant BENJAMIN F. MANLEY, Technical Assistant

MINERAL ECONOMICS GROUP

W. H. Voskuil, Ph.D., Principal Mineral Economist HUBERT E. RISSER, Ph.D., Mineral Economist W. L. Busch, A.B., Associate Mineral Economist

ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP

EDUCATIONAL EXTENSION

GEORGE M. WILSON, M.S., Geologist and Head IRA E. ODOM, B.A., Research Assistant SHIRLEY TRUEBLOOD, B.S., Research Assistant

GENERAL SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION

Arlene Green, Technical Assistant Del Marie Rogers, B.A., Technical Assistant Genevieve Van Heyningen, Technical Assistant

PUELICATIONS

DOROTHY E. ROSE, B.S., Technical Editor MEREDITH M. CALKINS, Geologic Draftsman BETTY M. LYNCH, B.ED., Assistant Technical Editor DONNA R. WILSON, Assistant Geologic Draftsman

MINERAL RESOURCE RECORDS

VIVIAN GORDON, Head BETTY J. HANAGAN, M.A., Research Assistant HANNAH FISHER, Technical Assistant ROSALIE PRITCHARD, Technical Assistant HELEN ROSS, B.A., Technical Assistant YVONNE M. SATHER, Technical Assistant BARBARA L. SCOTT, B.A., Technical Assistant ELIZABETH SPEER, Technical Assistant

TECHNICAL RECORDS

BERENICE REED, Supervisory Technical Assistant JUDITH FLACH, Technical Assistant MIRIAM HATCH, Technical Assistant

LIBRARY

OLIVE B. RUEHE, B.S., Geological Librarian BEVERLY ANN OHREN, B.S., Technical Assistant

FINANCIAL RECORDS

VELDA A. MILLARD, In Charge Eleanor A. Drabik, B.A., Clerk IV Virginia C. Sanderson, B.S., Clerk-Typist III Carolyn S. Toppe, Clerk-Typist II Patricia A. Northrup, Clerk-Typist I

* Divided time

Topographic mapping in cooperation[®] with the United States Geological Survey

October 22, 1957

SPECIAL TECHNICAL SERVICES

WILLIAM DALE FARRIS, Research Associate BEULAH M. UNFER, Technical Assistant A. W. GOTSTEIN, Research Associate GLENN G. POOR, Research Associate* GILBERT L. TINBERG, Technical Assistant WAYNE W. NOFFTZ, Supervisory Technical Assistant DONOVON M. WATKINS, Technical Assistant MARY CECIL, Supervisory Technical Assistant RUBY D. FRISON, Technical Assistant

CLERICAL SERVICES

MARY M. SULLIVAN, Clerk-Stenographer III RITA J. NORTRUP, Clerk-Stenographer II LILLIAN W. POWERS, Clerk-Stenographer I MARILYN BEVILL, Clerk-Stenographer I BARBARA A. CARLING, Clerk-Stenographer I EDNA M. YEARGIN, Clerk-Stenographer I LAUREL F. GRIFFIN, Clerk-Typist I JEAN M. WARD, Clerk-Typist I JULLIAM L. MATHIS, Messenger-Clerk II LORENE G. WILSON, Messenger-Clerk I

AUTOMOTIVE SERVICE

GLENN G. POOR, In Charge* ROBERT O. ELLIS, Automotive Shop Foreman DAVID B. COOLEY, Automotive Mechanic EVERETTE EDWARDS, Automotive Mechanic

RESEARCH AFFILIATES

J HARLEN BRETZ, PH.D., University of Chicago STANLEY E. HARRIS, JR., PH.D., Southern Illinois University

M. M. LEIGHTON, PH.D., D.Sc., Research Professional Scientist, State Geological Survey A. BYRON LEONARD, PH.D., University of Kansas CARL B. REXROAD, PH.D., Texas Technological

College

WALTER D. ROSE, B.S., University of Illinois PAUL R. SHAFFER, PH.D., University of Illinois HAROLD R. WANLESS, PH.D., University of Illinois PAUL A. WITHERSPOON, PH.D., University of California

CONSULTANTS

GEORGE W. WHITE, PH.D., University of Illinois RALPH E. GRIM, PH.D., University of Illinois

CONTENTS

| | | | | | | | | | | | | P | GE |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|------------|
| Summary | | | | | | | | | | | | | 7 |
| Introduction | | | | • | • | | • | | | • | | • | 8 |
| Initial attack of oxygen | | | | | | • | • | | | | | | 9 |
| Mechanism and kinetics of coal oxidation | | | | | | | • | | | | | | 13 |
| Studies of the chemical structure of coal | | | | | | | | | | | | | 16 |
| Humic acids | | | | | | | | | | | | | 18 |
| Gaseous oxidation products | | | | | | | | • | | | | | 22 |
| Water-soluble acids, aliphatic | | | | | | | | | | | | | 22 |
| Water-soluble acids, aromatic | | | | | | | | | | | | | 23 |
| Nitrogen in coal | | | | | | | | ٠ | | | | | 27 |
| Phenolic groups | | | | | | · | | | • | | | · | 27 |
| Storage and spontaneous combustion | | | | | | | • | | | | | | 28 |
| Evaluation of susceptibility | | | | | | | | | | | | | 31 |
| Prevention of deterioration | | | | | | | | | | | · | | 33 |
| Estimation of the extent of oxidation . | | | | • | | | | | | | | | 34 |
| Effects of oxidation on coking properties | | | | | | | | • | | | | | 37 |
| Gasification and combustion | | | | | | | | | | | | | 40 |
| Bibliography | | | | | | | | | | | | | 4 1 |



OXIDATION OF COAL

G. R. YOHE

ABSTRACT

A summary and review of the literature on coal oxidation, with emphasis on results published since the appearance of Lowry's "Chemistry of Coal Utilization," in 1945, is presented.

The major topics discussed are the initial attack of oxygen, oxidation kinetics, oxidation results and the chemical nature of coal, storage and spontaneous combustion, determination of the extent of oxidation, and the effect of oxidation on coking properties. Gasification and combustion of coal are mentioned but not discussed in detail as they are phases of coal oxidation beyond the scope of this work. A bibliography of 315 references is appended.

SUMMARY

Reasons for the Study of Coal Oxidation.

The oxidation of coal is studied in order to learn more about the intimate chemical nature of this important resource; to understand better the processes of deterioration and spontaneous heating in stored coals; to gain knowledge which may be of value in the utilization of coal, either as a fuel or as a chemical raw material.

Initial Attack of Oxygen.—The following factors favor rapid initial oxidation: small particle size, low rank, high percentage of bright constituents, high storage temperatures, and high concentration of oxygen. The rate of oxidation diminishes with the time of exposure. The effect of moisture varies with different coals, but oxidation appears to be retarded if the moisture content is very low or very high. Oxygen is initially taken up as a "coaloxygen complex" which is probably peroxidic in nature.

Oxidation Kinetics. — The logarithm of the oxidation rate varies in an approximately linear manner with the reciprocal of the absolute temperature (Arrhenius equation). Oxygen absorption has been reported as varying directly with the 0.4 power of the surface area (from screen analysis) and with somewhat less than the first power of the oxygen concentration. Chemical Nature. — Coal contains aromatic (benzene) ring systems and condensed aromatic structures; these nuclei increase in size and form an increasingly greater part of the total substance as the rank of the coal increases. Aliphatic structures are probably present as side chains of one or more carbon atoms, as connecting chains between aromatic nuclei, or as hydroaromatic rings. Phenolic groups are present in low and medium rank coals, but essentially absent in coals of more than 89 percent carbon. Part of the nitrogen is probably present in heterocyclic structures.

Storage and Spontaneous Combustion.— Coals generally are susceptible to spontaneous combustion in storage piles. The danger is lessened by storing higher rank coals, by avoiding storing fines, and especially by avoiding a mixture of fine and coarse sizes in which careless piling may bring about segregation of sizes. Covering of piles, compacted layer piling, or storage under water largely eliminates the danger.

Coals that absorb oxygen avidly and have low ignition temperatures are dangerous; high ash content inhibits oxidation unless the mineral matter contains a high percentage of iron which seems to accelerate oxidation. Arguments still rage concerning the hazards of pyrite, but some evidence seems to indicate that it has in the past received unwarranted blame for spontaneous fires. Exclusion of oxygen is the only practical method of preventing deterioration of stored coal; the use of added antioxidants is practically untested, but would probably prove too expensive to be feasible.

Determination of Extent of Oxidation. Changes in plastic and coking properties appear to be the most useful tests in determining to what extent a coal has been oxidized; ignition temperature and other methods have been used by some experimenters.

Effect on Coking Properties.—Except for some strongly coking coals which may show slight improvement by a little oxidation, the general effect of oxidation is to lessen or destroy the coking qualities of coal. The effect is more marked in the marginal (lower rank) coking coals.

Gasification and Combustion. — These topics are mentioned only as applications of oxidation; their full discussion is beyond the scope of this paper.

INTRODUCTION

SEARCH OF LITERATURE

The following paper summarizes the findings of many investigators who have studied coal oxidation since the appearance of the two-volume work entitled "Chemistry of Coal Utilization," edited by H. H. Lowry and published in 1945 by John Wiley and Sons, New York. Two chapters in that work are of special interest to those concerned with various phases of the oxidation of coal—Chapter 9, "Chemical Constitution of Coal: As Determined by Oxidation Reactions," by H. C. Howard, and Chapter 18, "Changes in Coal During Storage," by L. D. Schmidt.

This report contains some references to the earlier work in order to tie the recent to the older results, but no attempt has been made to cite all publications that have appeared on this topic during the intervening years. The writer believes, however, that the report is comprehensive enough to give a fair picture of the recent accomplishments in this field.

The original papers have been consulted where they have been available. In numerous cases, however, because of inaccessibility of the journals or because of language difficulties (for example, Russian and Japanese), the information has been taken from *Chemical Abstracts*. For such articles the *Chemical Abstracts* references are given.

The writer wishes to thank Earle C. Smith and Mrs. Marjory Herder for assistance in the literature search.

IMPORTANCE OF COAL OXIDATION

The reaction of coal with oxygen is fundamental to its importance in the economy of modern civilization, because the value of a fuel lies merely in its oxidation at such a rapid rate and under such conditions that the heat produced is useful. Nevertheless, a study of the oxidation of coal is of interest and importance from other viewpoints than those connected with its use as a fuel.

For example, undesired and uncontrolled oxidation may be dangerous and costly, as in the case of spontaneous combustion, which is initially a slow oxidation under conditions that do not permit dissipation of the heat evolved. The result is increased temperature, accelerated oxidation, the accumulation of more heat, and still greater rise in temperature until active combustion starts. Coal piles have been destroyed and ships lost at sea because of spontaneous combustion.

Short of such catastrophic burning, however, are lesser losses to be attributed to oxidation. The reserve fuel pile at a power plant gradually loses some of its heating value—perhaps only a small percentage, but a loss, nonetheless. The stock of coking coal at a metallurgical coke plant may deteriorate, because of oxidation, to the point that there are difficulties in coke oven operation, inferior coke is produced, and there are consequent losses, or perhaps the coal becomes useless for this purpose and must be disposed of.

Yet this adventitious oxidation of coal is not always a curse. A home owner who has been annoyed at coke-tree formation in his stoker-fired furnace may find this trouble largely eliminated after his coal has aged in storage several months, because the combustion characteristics may benefit by the loss of coking properties (Schmidt et al., 1943).

There are yet other reasons for our interest in the oxidation of coal. Man has learned that the more he knows about any resource, the better are the chances that he can use that resource advantageously. And in processes of controlled oxidation we have one means of learning more about the intimate chemical nature of coal. Furthermore, controlled oxidation may lead to the conversion of the coal to new and useful products.

The research chemist is an explorer. He does not look for uncharted seas nor for unmapped lands; he searches for the minute details of molecules that he is destined never to see—to show how atom is placed upon atom to constitute these molecules. Who can live life as we live it today and not recognize the many contributions of this kind of exploration?

These, then, are some of the reasons for studying the oxidation of coal: What is the chemical nature of the material, what happens when oxygen of the air attacks it, how may we preserve coal that we want to keep, and how may we best use it when the time for utilization comes? What new and useful products may we make from coal, and how may we best proceed to make them?

The pages that follow present information that chemists have gained about various phases of coal oxidation during recent years. Some of it is technical, written in the language of the chemist. Yet it is hoped that enough of the picture is presented in nontechnical terms to give an understanding of what the chemist is seeking.

INITIAL ATTACK OF OXYGEN

As soon as coal is uncovered from its place underground and exposed to air, oxygen begins to react with it. This reaction ordinarily is slow, and its effects are not readily apparent. The rate at which it takes place varies with a number of conditions (Kramers, 1946; Waard, 1941), among which the following may be mentioned: particle size of the coal, coal rank, temperature, length of time of exposure, concentration of oxygen, moisture, and petrographic composition of the coal.

VARIABLE CONDITIONS

Particle Size

As oxidation occurs at or very near the surface of the coal particle, a coal which is finely crushed, and consequently exposes more surface for a given weight, will react more rapidly with oxygen than will a similar sample in lump form (Scott and Jones, 1941; Elder et al., 1945). It is in part for this reason that recommendations have been made that coke oven operators avoid using the finer sizes of certain rather easily oxidized coals (Reed et al., 1947).

Pogrebitskii (1943) stated the conclusion that a solid block of coal is not subject to spontaneous combustion, but that finely divided particles are essential to start a fire.

Oreshko (1952) has stated that the lowtemperature oxidation of certain Soviet coals is proportional to the volume of the coal and not to the surface. He assumed that the oxygen penetrates into the coal through various pores and capillaries and that the rate of oxidation may be correlated to the surface of these "channels." Thus it would appear that Oreshko's use of the word "volume" implies specific volume and is related to porosity; that it is not only the apparent surface of the coal grains that is involved, but the pore or "internal" surfaces as well.

The values of such surface vary with the rank and type of the coal, and may well be partly responsible for the varying rates of oxidation observed with various coals. The point, however, is that for a given coal, small particle sizes will expose greater surface areas than large particles, and the result will be increased oxygen absorption.

Rank of the Coal

In general, the lower the rank of the coal, the higher is its oxygen content, and greater its susceptibility to attack by oxygen (Schmidt 1941, 1945, p. 648-9; Stopes and Wheeler, 1923a; Wheeler and Woolhouse, 1932; Georgiadis and Gaillard, 1954; Elder et al., 1945).

The variation of oxidizability with changing yield of volatile matter may be mentioned in connection with the effects of rank of the coal. Oreshko (1951a) studied ten coals having volatile matter contents of 7-42 percent, and found that the oxygen consumption was at a minimum when the volatile matter of the coal was 26 percent.

Temperature

It has been found that the rate of many chemical reactions is approximately doubled for each 10°C. rise in temperature; this appears to be approximately true of the oxidation of coal (Schmidt 1945, p. 642-5), but there are difficulties in making reliable measurements because of the effects of time. (See below.) But in a qualitative way it may be said that, other conditions being equal, coal in contact with air will oxidize much more rapidly in a warm environment than in a cool one (Elder et al., 1945).

The effects of increasing the temperature are complicated by the nature of the reactions involved. Veselovskiĭ and Terpogosova (1953) found that the oxidation products first formed by the addition of oxygen decompose more readily as the temperature rises, and that ultimately this decomposition is accelerated more than their rate of formation. Thus at lower oxidation temperatures there is an accumulation of oxidation products which does not occur at higher temperatures. Bastick's (1954) report that an increase in oxidation temperature favors the formation of gaseous products agrees with this concept.

Time

Although coals start to absorb oxygen at once when fresh surfaces are exposed to air, the rate of absorption at a given temperature falls off with time of exposure (Scott and Jones, 1941; Elder et al., 1945), and this decrease in rate is greater when the rate itself is high (that is, at higher temperatures) (Schmidt 1945, p. 642-5). Thus unless the temperature is allowed to rise, the rate at which a coal will deteriorate gradually becomes less. With fine coal, it has been found that the rate of oxidation varies inversely as the 1.7 power of the extent of oxidation (Schmidt 1945, p. 642-5).

Concentration of Oxygen

Coal is oxidized more rapidly in an atmosphere of pure oxygen than it is in air (Oreshko 1949d; Elder et al., 1945), and the rate is still slower in air from which some of the oxygen has been removed (Schmidt 1945, p. 648). This fact may be of little consequence where air has free access to the coal, but it is of considerable importance in large storage piles, or in covered or protected piles where ventilation is limited or prevented, as the concentration of oxygen in the air in the interior of the pile may fall to a very low value (Graham and Raybould, 1932; Drewry, 1937).

Moisture

The fact that high-moisture coals oxidize more rapidly than low-moisture coals is not necessarily evidence that the more rapid reaction is because of the moisture present. Coals of low rank usually have a high moisture content, yet it is probably the low rank itself (high oxygen content) which is responsible for the fact that they are more susceptible to oxidation.

Katz and Porter (1917) studied the effects of changing moisture content and concluded that some coals absorbed oxygen more rapidly when dry, and others more rapidly when moist. Mukherjee and Lahiri (1957) compared two coals of different ranks at 70-120°, and found that the low rank coal absorbed oxygen more slowly from moist air than from dry, but the reverse was true of the higher rank coal. Mehta and coworkers (1952) found that with the Indian coals they investigated, oxygen absorption reached a maximum at conditions of about 40 percent relative humidity.

Under usual conditions of storage or exposure, moisture is present in both the coal and the air, so that conditions of really dry exposure are not attained.

Petrographic Composition

Examination of a lump of coal will reveal in almost all instances that it is made up of layers of differing appearance. These are the "banded ingredients" or "petrographic constituents."

Fusain, the dusty, charcoal-like friable constituent is ordinarily considered the most inert chemically and the most resistant to oxidation. It seems apparent that it is indeed less likely to undergo appreciable changes because of oxidation, particularly under rather drastic conditions (Lefebvre and Faivre, 1936; Fuchs et al., 1938; Jüttner, 1956), yet when freshly mined, or after having been evacuated, it may absorb oxygen more rapidly than the other portions of the coal (Tideswell and Wheeler, 1920; Stopes and Wheeler, 1923b; Yohe and Wilt, 1942b; Yohe, 1950). Aside from this rapid up-take of oxygen by fresh fusain, it is generally found that the banded ingredients would be listed as follows according to their ease of oxidation: vitrain, clarain, durain, and fusain (Jüttner, 1956).

Kukharenko and Ryzhova (1956) have recently stated that under natural conditions, vitrain is more easily oxidized than fusain.

Shotts (1950) studied the step-wise nitric acid oxidation of several bituminous coals after separating them into fractions on a specific gravity basis and concluded that the approximate amount of "bright" and "dull" components could be calculated from the oxidation data.

NATURE OF OXIDATION

Although it has been known for many years that coal absorbs oxygen from the air and undergoes certain changes in properties as it does so, the exact nature of this absorption and change has not been completely elucidated. The facts that coal is a solid and that it is of complicated and undefined chemical structure increase the difficulties of explaining the details of the process.

"Coal-Oxygen Complex"

A number of workers in this field have considered that this initial stage of oxygen up-take is the formation of a "coal-oxygen complex," or an unstable surface combination (Wheeler, 1918; Parr and Milner, 1925; Davis and Byrne, 1925; Porter and Ralston, 1914).

Two possibilities must be considered in explaining the nature of a "coal-oxygen complex." One of these, known as adsorption, is a process which occurs where there is a surface boundary between phases of substances, as for example, the surface of a coal particle is the boundary between the solid coal phase and the gaseous air phase in contact with it. At such an interface there may be an increased concentration of certain kinds of the molecules present in the gas—a preferential attraction of certain molecules so that in effect they form a layer coating the surface of the solid.

If the "coal-oxygen complex" is of this nature, we would picture it as a layer of oxygen molecules preferentially attracted and adhering to, but not in permanent chemical combination with, the coal surface. It is considered characteristic of simple adsorption processes that the adsorbed material may be removed or "desorbed" and recovered in its original chemical form, usually by evacuating, by heating, or by heating in a vacuum.

Peroxide Formation

The second process possibly involved in the initial oxidation is that of peroxide formation. This is considered to be more truly chemical in nature, and the existence of a surface or interface between phases is not required. Certain chemical structural units in which a hydrogen atom is attached to a carbon atom (-C-H) are capable of taking up an oxygen molecule (O_{a}) to form a "hydroperoxide" (-C-O-O-H). This is the initial process in the "drying" of oil paints, in the development of rancidity in butter, etc. Oxygen which has been taken up in this manner cannot be recovered as oxygen gas by heating or evacuation; if it can be removed at all it breaks carbon or hydrogen away with it and is obtained as an oxide of one of those elements, namely, as water or a carbon oxide.

Neither of these possible forms of the "coal-oxygen complex" possesses the stability that is characteristic of most chemical compounds. Both are sufficiently "loose" combinations that the oxygen involved may still oxidize certain readily oxidizable substances which may be brought into contact with it, or may indeed serve to oxidize the coal substance itself by being converted to more permanent, stable oxygen-containing combinations.

The fact that this oxygen is loosely bound initially makes it possible to detect its presence and to measure its amount, but unfortunately does not permit us to distinguish with certainty between the two possibilities mentioned above. Yohe and Harman (1941) used a method of estimating this oxygen based on the ability of the coal to oxidize titanous chloride, the amount of oxidation being determined by titration of the excess titanous chloride with standard ferric chloride solution. They found that coal which had been carefully protected from air while it was removed from the mine face, ground, and handled showed little or no "active oxygen" content, but that exposure to air for only a few minutes resulted in a marked increase in its ability to oxidize the titanous chloride.

Later Yohe and Wilt (1942a, 1942b) followed the change in content of this reactive oxygen over time periods of several months for several high-volatile bituminous coals and found that the oxidizing power reached a maximum value in from 10 to 25 days, then diminished slowly. This behavior is exactly what one would expect if this reactive oxygen is an intermediate stage in the over-all oxidation process, that is, that the oxygen is first taken up in this loosely bound condition and subsequently is converted to chemically stable oxidation products of such nature that their presence may no longer be detected by the method used.

Still later Jones and Townend (1945a, 1945b, 1946, 1949) published results of somewhat similar experiments on British coals. They used a modification of the method of Yule and Wilson (1931), and obtained results essentially similar to those of Yohe and Harman and Yohe and Wilt. They called their active oxygen "peroxide" and noted that it started to break down when the coal samples were heated to about 80°C. Further work along similar lines on British and Indian coals was published by Chakravorty et al. (1950). Their results were essentially similar to those previously published on other coals; they extended the study of the decomposition of the peroxygen complex, and found it to approximate a first-order reaction with energy of activation approximately that for hydroperoxide decomposition.

Still later Yohe (1950) noted that the Russell Effect (the darkening of or image formation on a sensitized photographic plate kept in direct contact with certain substances in the absence of light) was produced by substances capable of forming peroxides, and that the fact that coals produce this effect (Russell, 1909; Stopes, 1919) was consistent with the idea that the active oxygen, or "coal-oxygen complex" was peroxidic in nature.

Although Jones and Townend (1945a, 1945b, 1946, 1949) referred to the active oxygen in their coals as peroxide, Yohe and Wilt (1942a) took the view that the evidence at hand was not sufficient to differentiate between peroxide and adsorbed oxygen. Recently Rafikov and Sibiryakova (1956) published a method for peroxide determination in which coal is treated with aqueous hydroquinone solution, and the amount of hydroquinone converted to quinone is determined iodometrically. They claim that adsorbed oxygen is not determined by this method.

It seems, however, that the active oxygen in coals partakes of the nature of both peroxide and adsorbed oxygen, and it may be that at one time or another in the atmospheric oxidation process, both exist. The rapid formation of the "complex" (Yohe and Harman, 1941) is suggestive of adsorption, yet the fact that evacuation does not lead to oxygen recovery (Winmill, 1914-15) casts doubt on the adsorption mechanism and supports the idea of a chemical combination. Perhaps adsorption occurs first, and the adsorbed oxygen is then converted to peroxide structures.

Oreshko (1949a, 1949b, 1949c) studied the behavior of several Donets Basin coals on heating in an air or oxygen stream. He recorded rates of heating of the furnace and of the coal, and changes in weight of the coal sample during the process. In all cases there was an initial gain in weight followed by a drop, then another increase to new and still higher maximum, then a sharp drop when active combustion set in. He concluded that the process of oxidation of coal consisted of three distinct stages: (1) up to 70-80°, the formation of peroxidetype complexes; (2) the decomposition of these complexes; and (3) at 130-160° or 180-290° (depending on type of coal), the formation of stable coal-oxygen complexes which are destroyed only on ignition.

Titov and coworkers (1956) have indicated that a connection exists between the peroxide content of coals and other properties, such as hardness, inner surface, nature of gas evolution, thermal decomposition, etc., and recognized peroxideformation and peroxide - decomposition stages in the oxidation of coal, particularly the exothermal effect of the latter.

Higuchi and Shibuya (1954) air-oxidized humic material from lignite, and reported that the analysis of the nonvolatile coal revealed that various peroxides appeared as unstable intermediates.

MECHANISM AND KINETICS OF COAL OXIDATION

The influence of various factors on the rate of coal oxidation has been studied in some detail by a number of investigators. Although qualitative statements of some of these relationships have already been presented, this section of the paper is devoted to a summary of some of the more quantitative findings and some of the mathematical expressions of the results.

Howard (1947) noted that the relationship between oxidation rate and temperature fits an Arrhenius type of equation fairly well; that is, there is an approximately linear relationship between the logarithm of the reaction rate and the reciprocal of the absolute temperature.

The Arrhenius equation^{*}, in which k is the specific reaction rate, E is a constant (the "activation energy"), R is the gas content, and T is the absolute temperature, is as follows:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln k}{\mathrm{dT}} = \frac{\mathrm{E}}{\mathrm{RT}^2}^{\dagger} \tag{1}$$

Integration of the above equation gives

$$\ln k = -\frac{E}{R} \cdot \frac{1}{T} + C \qquad (2)$$

which, in terms of logarithm of the reaction rate and the reciprocal of the absolute temperature, is a straight-line equation.

In his earlier work on the kinetics of coal oxidation, Oreshko (1943) passed oxygen through a heat-insulated pile of dry coal and measured the temperature, which he designated θ . He found that the rate of heating, $\frac{d\theta}{dt}$, followed the relationship $\frac{d\theta}{dt} = Ce^{-\frac{A}{R\theta}}$ (3)

where t is time, and C and A are constants. If it is considered that the rate of temperature rise is a direct measure of the reaction rate, this is equivalent to the integrated form of the Arrhenius equation given above, for by taking the logarithm of it, we have

$$\ln \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\frac{\mathrm{A}}{\mathrm{R}} \cdot \frac{1}{\theta} + \mathrm{C}' \qquad (4)$$

Oreshko found that in these experiments, A (the energy of activation) had a value of 2.7 kg. calories below 80°C., and 7 kg. calories above 85°C., and deduced that the mechanism of oxidation was different above this temperature (80-85°C.) than below it.

In later work, Oreshko (1949b) found evidence that the oxidation of coal proceeded in three stages: up to 70-80°, activation energy 3.4 kg. calories; from this temperature to 130-160°, activation energy 6-8 kg. calories; and then up to 180-290°, activation energy 12-17 kg. calories. He concluded from the nature of the constants of

^{*} The reader is referred to any standard textbook on physical chemistry for a detailed explanation of this equation.

[†] The expression ln k is the logarithm to the base e; where log k is the logarithm to the base 10, ln $k = 2.303 \log k$.

the equation that the rate of oxidation depended on the chemical reaction itself, not on diffusion.

In still more recent work, Oreshko (1950b) has stated that under conditions where diffusion is not a rate-determining factor, a coal surface area S oxidizes at the rate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{k}' \,\mathrm{S}[\mathrm{O}_2] \tag{5}$$

where x is a measure of extent of oxidation, t is time, $[O_2]$ is the concentration of oxygen, and k' is a constant. Under nonisothermal conditions, the equation is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = \mathrm{S}[\mathrm{O}_2] \, \mathrm{k}'_{\mathrm{o}} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\mathrm{E}}{\mathrm{R}\mathrm{T}}} \tag{6}$$

where the more conventional E and T are used for the activation energy and temperature, respectively.

If the oxygen concentration [O₂] is maintained constant, and the time of oxidation is short enough that the surface area S may also be considered nonvariant,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = k_{\mathrm{o}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\mathrm{E}}{\mathrm{RT}}} \tag{7}$$

where the new constant \mathbf{k}_0 is the product of the previous constants

 $(k_{o} = k'_{o} S [O_{2}]).$

Equation 7 gives the rate of change with respect to time; the following derivation gives the rate of change with respect to the temperature.

If the temperature increases uniformly at the rate β ,

then

or

$$T = T_{o} + \beta t$$
(8)
$$t = \frac{T}{c} - \frac{T_{o}}{c}$$
(9)

в

and, since T_0 (the original temperature) and β are constant,

ß

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{T}} = \frac{1}{\beta} \tag{10}$$

(8)

and, as

$$\frac{\mathrm{dx}}{\mathrm{dT}} = \frac{\mathrm{dx}}{\mathrm{dt}} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{dt}}{\mathrm{dT}}$$

the combination of equations 7 and 10,

and expression in differential form gives

$$d\mathbf{x} = \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}_{o}}{\beta}\right) e^{-\frac{\mathbf{E}}{\mathbf{R}\mathbf{T}}} d\mathbf{T}$$
(11)

The integral of this function develops into a series; Sherman (1936) gives the integral of an equation of essentially this form, and Oreshko (1950b) gives an approximate solution in which the less significant members of the series have been neglected (shown as the definite integral between limits T_1 and T_2 :

$$\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{x}_{1} = \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}_{0}\mathbf{R}}{\beta \mathbf{E}}\right) \left(\mathbf{T}_{2}\mathbf{e}^{-\frac{\mathbf{E}}{\mathbf{R}\mathbf{T}_{2}}} - \mathbf{T}_{1}\mathbf{e}^{-\frac{\mathbf{E}}{\mathbf{R}\mathbf{T}_{1}}}\right)^{*} (12)$$

It is obvious from the condition imposed in equation 8 that equation 12 is applicable only in the range where the increase in temperature is linear, and would not hold as the temperature approaches the region of self-ignition and increases at an increasing rate.

In further work of this nature, Oreshko (1950c, 1950d, 1950e) studied various coals at various stages of the oxidation process, and found that although the constants of the equations differed for different coals, for the different petrographic ingredients, and for the different oxidation stages, the equations given above were generally applicable. This holds for the stage in which peroxides are decomposing and the sample weight is decreasing as well as for periods of gain in weight as oxygen is absorbed.

Georgiadis and Gaillard (1953) considered that the oxidation of coal consisted of two consecutive reactions, the first being the formation of the oxygen complexes

* In checking this integration by substitution of variable z = 1/T, integrating by parts ($\int udv = uv - \int vdu$), and retaining only the first member of the resulting series as Oreshko evidently has done, I obtain either

$$x_{2} - x_{1} = \frac{k_{o}R}{\beta E} \left[T_{2}^{2} e^{-\frac{E}{RT_{2}}} - T_{1}^{2} e^{-\frac{E}{RT_{1}}} \right]$$
or
$$x_{2} - x_{1} = \frac{k_{o}}{\beta} \left[T_{2} e^{-\frac{E}{RT_{2}}} - T_{1} e^{-\frac{E}{RT_{1}}} \right]$$

depending upon the selection of u and v in the above form. The first solution is not applicable, as it has been obtained by dropping members of a divergent series which cannot be evaluated: the second solution differs from Oreshko's by the factor R/E, which neither I nor my mathemati-cian friends could obtain here.—G. R. Y.

which follows the Arrhenius law between 150° and 250°C., and the second being the decomposition of these complexes. They indicated that diffusion was of importance in the first reaction. Sommers and Peters (1954) investigated many variables in their studies of oxidation of coals in the temperature range 150-260°C., and developed a theory which considers that the penetration of oxygen into the compact coal material is a process of solid body diffusion.

Schmidt (1945), and Schmidt and Elder (1940) proposed the relationship

 $x = ct^b$, or $\ln x = b \ln t + \ln c$ (13) for the data of coal oxidation, where x is the amount of oxygen consumed in percent by weight of dry coal, t is time in days, and c and b are constants. This equation has since been used by Constantinides (1946). Higuchi and Shibuya (1955) have found that the yield of CO₂, CO, and HCHO with time upon oxidation of lignite in a fluidized system at 180-220°C. obeyed the same equation, which they stated in the form:

$\ln Y = K \ln t + c$

where Y is the yield of the products indicated above, t is reaction time, and K and c are constants. They said that the variation of yields of these products falls into two time ranges, both of which proceed according to this equation with different values of the constants peculiar to each stage.

Yamasaki (1953) oxidized coals of varying screen sizes and measured the oxygen absorbed in cc. per gram (x) at temperatures below 100°C. He reported that between 30° and 100° C. the relationship between oxygen absorbed and the temperature was

$$ln x = bT + c$$
(14)
Starting with this equation, we see that
$$x = e^{bT} + c'$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{dx}}{\mathrm{dT}} = \mathrm{b}\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{bT}}$$

In the region where temperature rise is constant (equation 9)

$$T = T_{o} + \beta t$$

and

$$\ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t}\right) = \ln b + \ln \beta + bT$$

 $\frac{\mathrm{d}T}{\mathrm{d}t} = \beta$

 $\frac{\mathrm{dx}}{\mathrm{dt}} = \mathrm{b}\beta\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{bT}}$

which would indicate a linear relationship between the logarithm of the reaction rate and the temperature, rather than the reciprocal of the temperature as shown by Oreshko's results. However. Yamasaki noted that below 30°C, the values of x deviated greatly from equation 14, and the implication is that this equation is applicable only within a limited temperature zone. Yamasaki suggested that van der Waals adsorption of oxygen on the surface was predominant below 30°C., whereas chemisorption became predominant between 30° and 100°C.

Yamasaki also gave a relationship between oxygen absorbed and surface area as calculated from the screen analysis: $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{a} \mathbf{S}^{0.4040}$

where x is cc. of oxygen absorbed per gram of coal, S is the surface area in sq. m./kg., and a is a constant peculiar to the coal used.

Howard (1947) has stated that the rate of oxidation is proportional to somewhat less than the first power of the oxygen concentration.

In evaluating the results of kinetic studies of coal oxidation, one is impressed with several difficulties which stand in the way of precision. One of these is the likelihood that we are dealing not with just one chemical reaction, but with many different reactions taking place concurrently as different structural units or functional groups are attacked by the oxygen. There is no assurance that these separate reactions would conform to the same equation; that is, even if they obeyed the same type of equation, the constants for each separate reaction might well be different.

Another complexity occurs in the difficulty of finding a reliable means of measur-

and

ing the reaction rate. In view of the probability that there are a number of concurrent reactions, the measurement of oxygen absorbed, of heat evolved, or of a certain product or type of product formed are all of questionable reliability as measures of the over-all reaction rate. It is not surprising that the results of various investigators fail to conform completely with the classical relationships of chemical kinetics; it is perhaps remarkable that the agreement found is as good as it is.

STUDIES OF THE CHEMICAL STRUCTURE OF COAL

When an organic chemist is confronted with the problem of elucidating the chemical structure of a material, he must learn many things about it.

First of all, he must know just what chemical elements are present in it. Ordinarily, this is not too difficult to learn. It has long been known that coals contain carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur. Other elements that are present in the mineral matter, or ash-forming constituents, are not discussed here, as the mineral matter is considered an "impurity"; the organic chemist is concerned only with the "pure coal" material. The trace elements (Headlee and Hunter, 1955) present also are many and varied, but that, too, is another problem.

In the second place, the chemist must determine with the greatest possible accuracy the percentages of the various elements present in his unknown material. Here the coal chemist encounters his first major difficulties: (a) coal is so heterogenous and variable that it is difficult, if not impossible, to get two coal samples that are identical in percentage composition; and (b) the limits of accuracy of known methods of analysis are not narrow enough.

For example, let us consider the following three hydrocarbons:

| | | С | ompound | С% | Н% | | | | |
|----|--|---|----------------|--------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| 1. | | | $C_{40}H_{82}$ | 563.06 | 85.32 | 14.68 | | | |
| 2. | | | $C_{41}H_{84}$ | 577.08 | 85.33 | 14.67 | | | |
| 3. | | | $C_{40}H_{80}$ | 561.04 | 85.63 | 14.37 | | | |

1

If an analyst knew that he had one of these three compounds, and his analysis came out 85.33 percent C and 14.67 percent H, he might be bold enough to report that he did not have compound No. 3, but he would never dare say (on the basis of the analysis alone) that he had No. 2 rather than No. 1, because he knows that his experimental error in making the analysis is almost certainly greater than the difference between them. In fact, many analysts would report values of 85.3 percent C and 14.7 percent H, recognizing that the second digit to the right of the decimal point is not reliable.

In the third place, the chemist must determine the molecular weight of his unknown. Here the coal chemist is in still more serious difficulty, for the only known methods having sufficient accuracy depend on volatilizing or dissolving the unknown. Goal cannot be converted to a gas without decomposing it, and the known methods of dissolving it are incomplete and probably attended by more or less decomposition. The molecular weight of coal has never been determined, and we know only that it is probably very large.

In the fourth place, for a complete clarification of chemical structure, the chemist must determine how the atoms of the various elements are arranged within the molecules of his unknown—he must be able to draw a "structural" or "graphic" formula for it, much as an architect might draw detailed plans of a house or a skyscraper. This is the most difficult of all.

To cite a simple example, there are two known compounds of formula C_2H_6O ; they have the same percentage composition and the same molecular weight. An analysis alone would not show any difference between them, neither would a molecular weight determination, so the chemist must rely on an investigation of their properties. A difference would show up on oxidation in that only one of these would be converted to acetic acid, CH_3CO_2H . This one is II; the following structural formulas show the difference:

| н н | НН |
|-----------|-----------|
| H-C-O-C-H | H-C-C-O-H |
| H H | H H |
| 7 | 11 |

It may be of interest to note that there are 75 different hydrocarbons possible with formula $C_{10}H_{22}$, 4,347 with formula $C_{15}H_{32}$, and 366,319 with formula $C_{20}H_{42}$ (Henze and Blair, 1931).

It is beyond the scope of this paper to reveal in detail how these structural studies are carried out. They may be long, arduous, baffling problems, but they are fascinatingly interesting to the chemist. Suffice it to say that even with materials whose percentage composition can not be learned accurately and whose molecular weight is undeterminable, nevertheless, much valuable information may be gained by a study of properties.

For example, all alcohols contain the characteristic or "functional" group of atoms C-OH; aldehydes the group --C:O, ketones C-C-C, etc. The properties H Ö

of an organic substance depend to a large extent upon the functional groups which it contains, and in many materials the identification of such groups is possible even though a complete structure determination is not. So it is with coal, and this section of the paper is devoted to reporting some of the facts learned by oxidizing coal and some of the structural inferences that may be drawn from these facts.

It may be mentioned at this point that possible structural formulas for the coal substance have been presented (Gillet, 1951), yet the reader must bear in mind that such formulas are not given with the conviction that they actually depict the true structure of coal. Rather, they are proposed as the type of structures that coal *might* have; structures which would explain (but not be the only explanation of) the observed properties of the coal.

The very fact that coal is easily oxidized gives us some information, albeit meager, about its nature. For it is well known to organic chemists that the saturated and purely aromatic hydrocarbons are not as easily oxidized as are certain of their oxygen-containing derivatives. Alcohol (C_2H_5OH) and acetaldehyde (CH_3CHO) are more easily oxidized than ethane (C_2H_6) ; phenol (C_6H_5OH) more readily than benzene (C_6H_6) ; the naphthols $(C_{10}H_7OH)$ more readily than naphthalene $(C_{10}H_8)$; benzaldehyde (C_6H_5CHO) more readily than toluene $(C_6H_5CH_3)$. It seems that, up to certain limits, once oxygen has gained a "foothold" in a molecule, further oxidation occurs more easily.

Yet other oxygen-containing structures are fairly resistant to further attack by oxidizing agents-for example certain ketones, ethers, and carboxylic acids. It has already been noted that the low-rank, high-oxygen coals are the most susceptible to oxidation. It is, therefore, in keeping with the known facts of organic chemistry that we should consider it possible that some of the oxygen present in them may be in the form of alcohol, phenol, or aldehyde groups. It must be remembered, however, that other properties of these materials may eliminate one or more of these groups from consideration.

If the reactive oxygen of the "coaloxygen complex" (Wheeler, 1918; Parr and Milner, 1925; Davis and Byrne, 1925; Porter and Ralston, 1914; Yohe and Harman, 1941; Yohe and Wilt, 1942a; Jones and Townend, 1945a, 1945b, 1946, 1949; Chakravorty et al., 1950) is actually present as organic peroxides, certain additional hints as to structures possibly present are offered. Ethers and some types of unsaturated structures as shown below are known to form peroxides easily, and we should be alert to the possibility that these structures may be present in coals.

| Group | Structure | Peroxide formed |
|-----------------------|-----------|-----------------|
| ether | С-О-С-Н | -C-O-C-OOH |
| olefin | С:С-С-Н | C:C-C-OOH |
| alkylated aromatic | √с́-н | -с-оон |

These are not the only possibilities for peroxide formation, but are selected as examples deemed most probable in coal.

Gillet and Fastre (1944) used coal samples which had been ground and prepared in the absence of oxygen, then forced moist air through samples held in fritted glass crucibles. They found that during the first 48 hours, one atom of oxygen was absorbed for every 29 carbon atoms present in the coal, and that 4 atoms of hydrogen were liberated (presumably as water—G. R. Y.) simultaneously. After 10 days a second oxygen atom was combined, but no more hydrogen was released. They state that these effects occurred only in the surface layer of the coal.

Chereau (1952) found that a coal of 34 percent volatile matter gained weight upon oxidation until a maximum of 6.7 percent gain had been reached, then lost weight. As the same coal absorbed iodine from Wijs reagent in amount equivalent to 6.8 percent of oxygen, he concluded that oxygen is absorbed by coal by adding to double bonds. Ward et al. (1945) compared the behavior of a number of organic compounds of known structure with that of coal in regard to the action of alkaline permanganate, and found the results consistent with the view that bituminous coals are condensed cyclic structures, and that they possess a high "double bond character."

Kramers (1946), in his review of the oxidation of coal, has given a brief summary of the nature of the oxidation products which may be obtained from coal.

HUMIC ACIDS

The fact that many coals on mild oxidation readily yield significant amounts of the alkali-soluble "humic acids" (Yohe and Harman, 1939; Tawada and Kawai, 1941; Chowdhury and Biswas, 1942; Kreulen, 1943; Fuchs, 1944; Eddinger and Demorest, 1947; Belcher, 1948a, 1948b, 1948c, 1948d, 1948e) indicates that one of two changes occurs: (a) that acidic structures, if present in the original coal, are part of overall structural units too large to disperse in alkali, and that these now break down to dispersable size, or (b) that previously neutral groups are now converted to acidic groups, perhaps with simultaneous degradation of molecular size.

As bituminous coals show little or no base-exchange capacity unless first oxidized (Gillet et al., 1955; Goedkoop, 1956) and/or sulfonated (Broderick and Bogard, 1941; Jurkiewicz et al., 1954; Delaroziere, 1944), we must consider the second possibility as more probable.

The formation of acidic groups by mild oxidation could presumably be caused by the conversion of alcohol or aldehyde groups to carboxyl, breaking a carbon chain at some susceptible linkage such as the olefin type to form carboxyls, or the formation of phenolic structures, possibly by such a mechanism as the peroxidation of an alkyl side chain followed by fission as is now done commercially in the manufacture of phenol from cumene (isopropyl benzene) (Plummer, 1953).

It seems obvious that new acidic groups are formed in the conversion of coal to "humic acids." These acids have been found to contain both carboxyl and phenolic groups (Howard, 1945a), although Kinney and Kerschner (1952) have cited evidence indicating that not all of the hydroxyl groups in these materials are phenolic in nature, but some are of the alcohol type.

In view of the fact that "humic acids" can be made by oxidizing relatively simple phenols, it has been pointed out that oxidative condensations as well as molecular size degradation may occur in the oxidation of coal (Yohe et al., 1953; Kharitonov, 1956). Kukharenko and Ryzhova (1956) have also suggested the idea of an oxidative condensation during coal oxidation as follows: In the initial stage, oxygen reacts with the coal to form bridges between macro-molecules, thus creating "potential" humic acids; subsequent oxidation brings about an intensive formation of humic acids and a decrease in the content of hydrogen and hydrocarbon. The final stage consists of the decomposition of the acids and condensation of aromatic nuclei.

Whether the "humic acids" are formed from coal by oxidative degradation, oxidative condensation, or (as seems more probable) a combination of both processes, it has been considered by many investigators that study of these materials constitutes a promising approach to the problems of the chemical constitution of coal itself.

Although it has been stated that the humic acids are produced from coals by "mild" oxidation, it might be well to point out that the action of air on coal at ordinary room or weather temperatures constitutes conditions too mild to bring about a rapid formation of the humic acids. A high-volatile bituminous coal, even of B or C rank, may be exposed to such air oxidation for months without developing more than a trace of alkali-solubility, but the outcrop coals, which yield appreciable amounts of humic acids on extraction with alkali, have been weathered for many years or even centuries.

Yohe and coworkers (1955) found that even at 100°C., air oxidation of a highvolatile B bituminous coal for about two months produced only a little more than one gram of humic acid from 100 grams of coal. At 150°C., however, the reaction is much more rapid (Yohe and Harman, 1939), giving yields in the neighborhood of 80 grams of humic acid from 100 grams of similar coal in three weeks. On the assumption that the rate of oxidative conversion of coal to humic acid doubles for each 10°C. rise in temperature, it may be calculated that two months exposure at 100°C. is equivalent to approximately two days at 150°, or to about 40 years at 20°C. (68°F.). On the same basis, three weeks of exposure at 150°C. would be equivalent to more than 470 years at 20°C.

Higuchi and Shibuya (1954) reported that lignite oxidized by air at 150° to 200° yielded 80 percent or more of humic acid, and Kamiya (1954), from his experiments on air oxidation of coal in a fluidized bed, concluded that the rapid destruction of the caking property involved a different reaction mechanism than the slower formation of the humic acids.

Friedman and Kinney (1950) oxidized coals of various ranks with air in electrically heated tubes, limiting the air flow at first to prevent excessive temperature rise. After 25 to 75 hours of oxidation it was possible to admit air in large excess; total oxidation times were 120 to 180 hours. Although alkali solubility increased with the temperature, the maximum yields of alkalisoluble products were obtained at 150° for lignite and sub-bituminous coal, and at 200° for bituminous coal. Acidification of the alkaline solutions gave 80-85 percent of humic acid-like products, based on the original coals. When the oxidations were carried out at 200-300°, the equivalent weights and oxygen contents of the products from the three kinds of coals tended to converge to the same values.

Gillet (1951) cited evidence of this kind in support of his idea that coals are much more homogeneous than is generally believed. He considers that 80 percent or more of the coal substance is a "fundamental" material having the approximate composition $C_{20}H_{22}O_{2}$, and that when this material is oxidized, 20 carbon atoms remain, giving products of empirical formula $C_{20}H_8O_8$. This, he states, appears to apply to all of the products of oxidation of the various coals.

Jüttner (1956) has stated that dry oxidation of coals leads predominantly to the humic acids, but that if low molecular weight degradation products are desired, oxidation in an aqueous medium is necessary. However, oxidation in aqueous media may be controlled so as to produce humic acids if desired. For example, Bailey, Kimberley, and Ward (1954) made use of controlled oxidation of coal with alkaline permanganate with the object of obtaining maximum yields of humic acids, and of finding out whether they could isolate a humic acid that was a single chemical en-Although they were able to obtain tity. acids of constant elementary composition, they concluded that this material was still a mixture rather than a single pure compound.

A recent thermographic study of coal humic acids from various sources (Klimov et al., 1953) shows that although all humic acids gave maxima at 396-426° and at 725-35°, there was no regular variation in the properties of the humic acids from coals corresponding to the transition from older to younger coals.

Roga and Ihnatowicz (1951) determined "humic acid curves" (Kreulen, 1934) of various coals, and found that the activity of the coal, as measured by the amount of humic acid formed at a given temperature, decreased with increasing rank of the coal; vitrain was found to give more humic acid than durain.

Kukharenko, Lyubimova, and Shalyapina (1956) noted that the yield and properties of humic acids produced by mild oxidation of coal depended on its organic structure, the extent of aromatic ring condensation, the relation between the aromatic and aliphatic constituents, and the oxygen bridging. They state that the rate of formation, yield, and properties of the alkaline solutions of the humic acids may be used to evaluate the "grade" of a coal, the extent of its oxidation, and its petrographic composition.

In determining the amount of humic acids in coals, peats, and lignites, Kukharenko (1956a) tried several methods, and recommended the gravimetric method as being more accurate than either the volumetric method based on further oxidation of the acids with chromic acid, or the still less reliable colorimetric determination. He observed, further, that air oxidation incidental to the extraction of the humic acids on the steam bath had no effect on the total yield, but that it did alter their structure appreciably.

Kukharenko (1949) separated coal humic acids into fractions by extraction successively with salt and base solutions (sodium oxalate, sodium fluoride, sodium carbonate, ammonium hydroxide, and sodium hydroxide) of pH that increased progressively from 6.6 to 13, and found that, in general, the higher the pH of the extracting solution, the higher were the carbon and hydrogen contents of the extracted materials. He concluded that the humic acids formed a closely interrelated family as regards chemical structures and molecular weights.

In further investigation of the properties of humic acids from various sources, Kukharenko (1956b) utilized the "coagulation threshold" determination, which is expressed in terms of the minimum concentration of a barium chloride solution required to produce a cloudiness in an alkaline humate solution prepared in a specific manner. He found that the coagulation threshold was higher (12.2 to 19.2) for the naturally occurring humic acids extracted from brown coals than it was (2.0 to 6.8) for humic acids prepared by oxidizing higher rank coals.

In another study of their properties, the humic acids were treated with metallic sodium in liquid ammonia (Kukharenko et al., 1952). Although no identifiable compounds were reported from this reaction, ether-soluble neutral and acidic fractions and traces of basic and water-soluble material were isolated; their molecular weights ranged from 200 to 273.

The oxidation of bituminous coal with nitric acid yields, among other products, an ether-insoluble fraction having the properties of humic acids (Duuren, 1951a; Fuchs et al., 1943). Duuren (1951a) found that about half the total oxygen in this material was in hydroxyl and carboxyl groups, and reported that most of the nitrogen in this substance occurred as nitro, isonitroso, or oxonium structures (and possibly a little heterocyclic nitrogen).

Later work resulted in the isolation of a fraction of composition C₆₀H₄₀N₄O₈₅, in which nitro and nitroso groups were shown to be present, but no valid deduction could be made regarding oxonium structures (Duuren, 1951b). This latter material was a weak acid of equivalent weight 174. Methylation reaction showed that it contained six carboxyl groups and four hydroxyls, two of which were alcoholic; carbonyl and chromophoric groups were absent. High-pressure hydrogenation gave a small yield of an oil which appeared to be hydroaromatic. Duuren (1953) has applied Krevelen's (1950) graphical method to the study of these "nitro-humic acids."

Kinney and Ockert (1956) believe that coal combines with cold nitric acid, and that on brief heating this combination is converted to nitric acid-insoluble humic acids; further boiling with nitric acid introduces additional carboxyl groups and converts these insoluble acids to the soluble type. Water-soluble acids and carbon dioxide are formed at the same time.

Higuchi and coworkers (1955, 1956) have also studied the "nitro-humic acids," which they prepared by the action of nitric acid on lignite humic acids or on lignite itself.

Mukherjee, Bhowmik, and Lahiri (1956) oxidized coals of various ranks in air at $150^{\circ}-200^{\circ}$, and concluded that there was a correlation between the properties of the humic acids formed and the ranks of coals used. They found that (except for lignite) the higher the rank of the coal, the lower was the base-exchange capacity and the higher the molecular weight of the humic acid produced.

Ahmed and Kinney (1950a, 1950b) and Kinney and Friedman (1952) studied the behavior of humic acids towards pyrolysis and the action of ozone. Pyrolysis yielded carbon dioxide corresponding to an equivalent weight of 242; 87 percent of the carbon remained in material nonvolatile at 950° and the residue was nearly pure carbon. No volatile aromatic fragments were isolated. The action of ozone gave primarily carbon dioxide and oxalic acid and converted most of the remaining carbon to nearly colorless, water-soluble, ozone-resistant acids. They believe that their results are consistent with the idea that coals and the humic acids derived from them contain, as part of their structure, stacked planes of carbon atoms similar to those present in carbon black.

Although a number of investigators have estimated the molecular weights of the humic acids to be in the range of 1000 to 1400 (Howard, 1945a), or even as high as nearly 3000 (Higuchi and Tsuyuguchi, 1954), others have given much lower values, even down in the range of 200 to 300 when the determinations were made cryoscopically using catechol as the solvent (Belcher, 1948a; Smith and Howard, 1935, 1936; Herbert et al., 1948; Polansky and Kinney, 1952). Mukherjee and Lahiri (1956) concluded from the results of their rheological studies that the behavior of the humic acids indicated a polymeric character which conflicted with the low molecular weights just cited.

Further oxidation of the coal "humic acids" with potassium permanganate, hydrogen peroxide, or ozone under suitably mild conditions has resulted in the isolation of "subhumic acids" (Bailey et al., 1955; Brooks et al., 1956; Dobinson et al., 1956; Ward, 1956). These are apparently simpler than the "humic acids" themselves, but are still rather complex mixtures. They were separated into fractions on the basis of solubility; the following shows average compositions:

Ether soluble $C_9H_{12}O(OH)(COOH)_3$

Acetone soluble

 ${\rm C_{15}H_{11}O_{2}}\left({\rm OH} \right)_{4} \left({\rm COOH} \right)_{3}$ Ethanol soluble

 $C_{32}H_{33}O_{3}(OH)_{5}(COOH)_{4}$

Still further oxidation gave oxalic acid as the only identifiable product (presumably in addition to $CO_2 - G$. R. Y.), but it is of interest to note that they record a positive test for pyrrole structures by the "pine splinter" method. Methylation of the "subhumic acids" gave products containing about 24 percent methoxyl.

The uses of humic acids, with special reference to those prepared by the mild oxidation of lignite, have been summarized by Inukai (1956); the applications include peptizing of oil drilling muds, cement slurry, cement mixtures, and pottery clays; as agents to lower the viscosity of dense media in mineral dressing; soil conditioners; organic fertilizers, etc.

GASEOUS OXIDATION PRODUCTS

It has been found that gaseous oxidation products are formed when coal is oxidized by air, even at moderate temperatures, and Grigor'ev and Semenova (1940) found that younger coals, on oxidation, yielded larger amounts of these gaseous products than did the older coals. Khrisanfova and Soboleva (1955) observed that the most carbon dioxide and water is formed on the oxidation of "long-flame" coals, and the least from semi-anthracites and anthracites. Jones and Townend (1945a, 1945b, 1946, 1949) have pointed out that below 70-80°, carbon monoxide is the main gaseous product, whereas above this temperature carbon dioxide and water are formed in much greater proportion than CO.

This behavior signifies that there is in coal a structural group that is easily attacked by oxygen gas to give a new group which decomposes easily to give carbon monoxide. The significance of this in coal structure deductions is obscure, as functional groups which lose CO at such low temperatures have not been well cataloged. Hurd (1929) reports that α -keto esters lose carbon monoxide readily, and cites examples wherein decompositions of the type

 $-CH_2-CO-CO_2R \rightarrow CO+-CH_2-CO_2R$ occur at temperatures as low as 160-90°. It is conceivable that such a reaction could take place, although at a much slower rate, at still lower temperatures. Perhaps a hydroperoxide forms first, then undergoes decomposition to form a new carbonyl group, as in the conversion of tetralin to *a*-tetralone (Thompson, 1940), so situated that it may evolve CO as a further decomposition product.

An explanation of the evolution of carbon dioxide, which predominates at temperatures above 70-80°C., is more readily given. Certain carboxylic acids, in particular those having a carbonyl group β - to the carboxyl (-C-CO-C-COOH) are easily decarboxylated, giving CO₂ and replacing the -COOH group by H.

Although it is not possible to pinpoint exact structural units which are responsible for the oxidation that results in the formation of CO and CO₂ at relatively low temperatures, it would appear most probable that "side chains" of at least two or three carbon atoms length are involved.

WATER-SOLUBLE ACIDS: ALIPHATIC

The formation of acetic acid in the oxidation of coals with nitric acid-sodium dichromate has been studied by Kinney (1947). He found that the structures in coal that produced acetic acid on oxidation were largely destroyed by carbonizing to 500°, and that high-rank coals gave less acetic acid, the quantity diminishing with decreasing volatile matter. The woody or vitrain portions of low-rank coals gave less acetic acid than did the attrital portions. The amount of acetic acid formed seemed to be directly related to the amount of methane formed on carbonization, and Kinney suggests that the acetic acidyielding structures are those which produce methane up to about 500°, whereas a different set of structures (which give approximately the same amount of additional methane on carbonizing to 1000°) does not yield acetic acid on oxidation.

From the results of his studies on the air oxidation of four types of coal at temperatures up to 200° for as long as 3000 hours, Bastick (1954) concluded that the constituent groups which produce tars and methane on the pyrolysis of coal are very sensitive to oxidation. Kinney's work on the oxidation of several pure phenols (Kinney, 1947) showed that acetic acid was produced in significant quantity only by those phenols bearing methyl side chains. It is possible, of course, that side chains longer than methyl might also produce acetic acid, but such compounds were not included in the group he tested. Thus it may be said that the evidence from the study of the formation of acetic acid by oxidation of coal favors the idea that coal contains side chains or alkyl groups of at least one carbon atom.

Another study of coal oxidation which supports the concept of aliphatic side chains or perhaps chains of at least two carbon atoms length coupling other nuclei together is that of Duuren and Warren (1950). They used nitric acid as the oxidizing agent, and allowed it to react 120 hours at the boiling temperature; during this time the spent acid was removed and new oxidizing agent was added every two hours. Although they obtained various aromatic these are discussed later), they found succinic acid (HO,CCH,CH,CO,H) and its anhydride in one of the fractions. If such a 4-carbon dibasic acid had been formed by the rupture of a benzene ring, one would expect to obtain maleic acid; the fact that the saturated acid was the one found suggests that it must have been derived from a saturated structure such as an aliphatic chain, or at least a cycloalkane unit.

Macrae (1943) has suggested that the oxidative alteration of aliphatic side-chain groups of the coal substance is responsible for the lowered yield of oily volatile matter in the carbonization of oxidized coals.

WATER-SOLUBLE ACIDS: AROMATIC

A study of the "nuclear" structure of coal has involved many oxidation experiments. Among the earliest investigators in this field were Bone and Quarendon (1926), who used potassium permanganate as the oxidizing agent, and isolated 1,2,3,4-benezenetetra- and hexa-carboxylic acids from their product. Since then Bone and his coworkers extended this work, and others elsewhere have applied this and other oxidizing agents to the problem of preparing aromatic acids from coal. As this early work has been summarized elsewhere (Bone and Himus, 1936; Howard, 1945a), the material covered in this paper will deal largely with the more recent work along these lines.

The more complete degradation of coal structure by means of these more powerful oxidizing agents, more drastic conditions, or both, points to the conclusion that coal contains an appreciable proportion of its carbon in the form of aromatic sixmembered ring structures, and that the percentage of the carbon existing in this form increases with increasing rank of the coal. The formation of benzene carboxylic acids indicates (but perhaps does not, in itself, prove) the presence of benzene rings with one or more side chains or "condensed" aromatic structures containing "fused" benzene rings. For example, phthalic acid,



could result from the oxidation of any of a wide variety of structures in which two adjacent carbon atoms of the ring held other carbon atoms:



the only requisite being that the groups attached to the benzene ring should be more easily oxidized than the benzene ring itself. To carry the example further, mellitic acid,



would not be found in the oxidation products unless the original material contained structures in which all six carbon atoms of some of the rings were attached to other carbon atoms, as in coronene:



Here, if the peripheral rings (1-6 inclusive) were oxidized, ring 7 might be left holding the necessary six carboxyl groups. On the other hand, if rings 2-7 inclusive were oxidized, leaving ring 1 intact, it would hold only four carboxyl groups:

Thus, in coal oxidation, the isolation of larger amounts of mellitic acid or of benzene carboxylic acids holding a large number of carboxyl groups indicates the existence of a proportionately greater amount of "network" structure than if little or no mellitic acid is formed and the other benzene carboxylic acids isolated hold fewer carboxyl groups.

In bringing about such extensive oxidations as this, some recent investigators have used permanganate (Funasaka et al., 1952; González Sánchez, 1955), but others have employed a variety of different oxidizing agents. Jüttner (1956) and Fujimoto et al. (1956) have described the use of nitric acid; Savich and Howard (1952) used nitric acid and oxygen at elevated temperatures and pressures.

Benning (1955a) also oxidized coal with nitric acid and oxygen, using finely ground coal with 6 to 8 times its weight of 15-35 percent nitric acid at 150-60° and 5 atmos-

pheres pressure. More than 40 percent of the carbon in the coal was converted to CO_a, and the remaining brown oxidation product was found to consist of 6.5 percent aliphatic dibasic acids (succinic, glutaric, and adipic), 3.5 percent benzenedicarboxylic acids (phthalic, isophthalic, and terephthalic), 8.0 percent benzenetricarboxylic acids (trimellitic and hemimellitic), 7.0 percent benzenetetracarboxylic acids (pyromellitic and mellophanic), 5.5 percent benzenepentacarboxylic acid, 0.5-2.0 percent mellitic acid, 8.0 percent naphthalene- to phenanthrene-carboxylic acids, 6.5 percent picric acid, 52.0 percent higher molecular-weight acids, and small amounts of benzoic acid, 2,5-furan- and 2,5-pyridinedicarboxylic acids, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-x-hydroxynaphthalenecarboxylic acids. and polycyclics of molecular weights 400-500. Benning believed that dilute nitric acid oxidation attacked coal structural units which contain methylene (-CH₂-) groups to give benzenecarboxylic acids and aliphatic acids, and he calculated, on the basis of this assumption and the yield of acids obtained, that the molecular weight of his coal was 630.

It is interesting to compare Benning's idea that nitric acid attacks the methylene groups with the report given by Bergmann and coworkers (1954), who included some oxidized coal samples in their study of the infrared absorption spectra of coals. These samples were apparently oxidized dry, as in air or oxygen, at 230°C. for periods of 3, 12, 24, and 96 hours. With this progressive oxidation there occurs first a "shoulder," then a peak at 1720 cm⁻¹, the position of which indicates the formation of C-O groups; these investigators state that an attack of methylene groups is indicated, but that aromatic structures are much less affected.

Jüttner's (1956) results on the nitric acid oxidation of a "fat" coal and a "gas-flame" coal were somewhat similar to those of Benning. He identified oxalic, succinic, a little glutaric and adipic acids as well as formic, a relatively large amount of acetic, and a little butyric acids in the aliphatic class. After a secondary oxidation of the primary products with hot concentrated sulfuric acid, he obtained pyromellitic, mellophanic, benzene pentacarboxylic, and mellitic acids. He stated that, on the average, the benzene carboxylic acids contained between three and four carboxyl groups, but that the main part of the primary oxidation product consisted of higher molecular weight acids of unknown structure.

In a study of the various petrographic constituents of coals, Schulz and Howard (1946) used nitric acid followed by alkaline permanganate; they reported yields of acids as tabulated below:

YIELDS OF ACIDS, PERCENT

| | | Total | |
|--------------------------|--------|-----------|----------|
| Coal | Oxalic | benzenoid | Mellitic |
| Pittsburgh seam (bright) | 2.7 | 28.0 | 6.2 |
| High Splint (dull) | 0.0 | 36.8 | 13.5 |
| Illinois No. 6 (fusain) | 0.0 | 56.3 | 25.4 |
| Utah Hiawatha (resins) | 11.9 | 21.0 | 1.5 |

Sustmann and Weinrotter (1940) oxidized brown coal and a semicoke prepared from it, using fuming nitric acid. The coal yielded 1.3 percent, and the semicoke 2.6 percent of mellitic acid.

The use of nitric acid as an oxidizing agent has been found to introduce some nitrogen-containing structures into the products (Savich and Howard, 1952), and picric acid (2,4,6-trinitrophenol) has been found among the acidic compounds formed (Jüttner, 1956). Grosskinsky (1952) also reported the isolation of picric acid from the nitric acid oxidation of coal. He reported yields of oxidation products which varied depending on the kind of coal, petrographic composition, physical and chemical pretreatment, particle size, concentration of nitric acid, presence of catalysts, reaction temperature, and pressure. He showed that the primary product contained aliphatic acids (succinic and adipic) 4.4-11.5 percent, benzene dicarboxylic acids 4.7-9 percent, benzene tricarboxylic acids 13.9-21 percent, benzene tetracarboxylic acids 9-11.3 percent, benzene pentacarboxylic acid 3.4-9.4 percent, mellitic acid 0.2 percent, and picric acid 9-20.4 percent.

Beck (1954) has applied a chromatographic method to the separation of the acids formed in the nitric acid oxidation of coal, and claims that it is an improvement over the usual analysis by fractional distillation and crystallization of the methyl esters.

Howard (1939) developed an electrolytic method for the separation and purification of the water-soluble acids from coal oxidation, and González Sánchez (1955) also used a similar procedure.

Belcher (1948a, 1948b, 1948c, 1948d, 1948e) oxidized vitrain electrolytically at a copper anode and obtained, in addition to the "humic acids," a water-soluble fraction (Belcher, 1948c) in which he identified (by distillation and crystallization of the methyl esters) oxalic, mellitic, 1,3-benzenedicarboxylic, and 1,2,3-benzenetricarboxylic acids. He found that a high proportion of the methyl esters failed to distil under conditions which favor ready distillation of the methyl esters of the benzenecarboxylic acids; decarboxylation of the sodium salts from the residual esters gave a mixture in which benzene, biphenyl, and diphenyl ketone were identified. Belcher stated that the water-soluble acids from this oxidation appeared to be similar to those obtained from the potassium permanganate oxidation of coal.

The experiments of Smith and coworkers (1939) on the oxidation of coal with oxygen and aqueous alkali at elevated temperatures and pressures was followed by the development of larger equipment for carrying out this reaction on a pilot-plant scale (Franke and Kiebler, 1946; Franke et al., 1952), using oxygen at 200-300°C. and 500-1200 lb./sq. in. total pressures, and giving yields of about 50 percent of the carbon as carbon dioxide and the remainder as water-soluble organic acids. These acids are obtained from the reaction mixture by acidification and solvent extraction. Kamiya (1956) applied a similar procedure to two bituminous coals of 84 percent and 87 percent carbon, using CuO, MnO_2 , or V_2O_5 as catalyst, and obtained results similar to those just described.

The chemistry of such acids has been reviewed by González Sánchez (1954), and detailed studies of their properties (Berman and Howard, 1949, 1950; Ruof et al., 1951; Roy and Howard, 1952; Entel et al., 1953; Entel, 1955; Montgomery and Sienknecht, 1955; Holly and Montgomery, 1956; Holly, Montgomery, and Gohlke, 1956; Montgomery et al., 1956) indicate that their molecular weights range from 199 to 442 with an average of about 265 (Berman and Howard, 1949). The butyl esters of molecular weight 300 to 700 were distillable, but they left a non-distillable residue that had an average molecular weight of 900. These esters apparently contain significant amounts of nuclear structures more complex than a single benzene ring (Berman and Howard, 1950).

Further study, including hydrogenolysis of the butyl esters in such a manner as to convert carboxyl groups of the acids to methyl groups (Ruof et al., 1951; Entel, 1954), resulted in the isolation and identification of phthalan, 5-methylphthalan, 2methylcyclohexanemethanol, and 1,2,3,4-, 1,2,3,5-, and 1,2,4,5- tetramethylbenzenes from the ester fraction boiling at 195-207° C. (760 mm.). Hydrogenation of the ester fraction boiling above 207°, permitted isolation of pentamethyl benzene and 4,5- and 4,7-dimethylphthalans, and indications were obtained that such compounds as polymethylbiphenyls, polymethylphthalans, polymethylhexahydrophthalyl alcohols, lactones of polymethyl-2-hydroxybicyclohexyl-2'-carboxylic acid and polymethylcyclohexanemethanols were present.

The isolation of phthalan derivatives is of considerable interest. Studies of phthalan itself (Entel et al., 1952) and comparisons of it with degradation products of the acids from coal resulted in the suggestion that part of the oxygen in coal may occur in phthalan-type structures.



Benning (1955b) proposed a paperchromatography method for the separation and identification of the lower molecular weight constituents of the acid mixtures. Montgomery and Sienknecht (1955) found that they could partially separate the acids by stepwise acidification of their solution in aqueous alkali and extraction with butanone at each stage, and that this process was more effective than the use of graded solvent mixtures progressively richer in an effective solvent. They noted also that part of the acids (13 percent) could be obtained as a sublimate at 1 mm. of mercury pressure.

Roy and Howard (1952) also applied a solvent fractionation procedure to the mixture, which consists of approximately 1/3 benzene carboxylic acids, 1/3 bi- and tricyclic acids, and $\frac{1}{3}$ higher polycyclic acids, isolated the following: $1,2-C_6H_4$ and $1,3-C_{6}H_{4}(CO_{9}H)_{9},$ (CO₂H)₂, 1,2,4-C_eH, (CO₂H)₃, $1,2,4,5-C_{6}H_{2}(CO_{2}H)_{4},$ 1,2,3,4- $C H_{a} (CO_{a}H)_{4}$, and $C H (CO_{a}H)_{5}$. The lactone of 2'-hydroxy-2-biphenylcarboxylic acid was isolated in the decarboxylation of the copper salts of the mixed acids (Entel et al., 1953), and benzene, naphthalene, biphenyl, biphenylene oxide, phenanthrene, diphenyl ketone, fluorenone, phenol, benzoic acid, the lactone of 2-hydroxybiphenyl-2'-carboxylic acid, and smaller amounts of pyridine, quinoline, a mixture of the three phenylpyridines, and β -naphthoquinoline were also formed (Entel, 1955).

Application of partition chromatography to the separation of these acids resulted in the isolation of benzoic and phthalic acids and gave a fraction whose nuclear C/H ratio suggested the presence of aliphatic or hydroaromatic structures in the original coal (Holly and Montgomery, 1956). The use of the mass spectrograph and the infrared spectrometer on the methyl esters of the acids obtained from Pocahontas No. 3 coal enabled Holly and coworkers to identify benzenetetracarboxylic, trimellitic $(1,2,4-C_{6}H_{3}(CO_{2}H)_{3}),$ methylphthalic, phthalic, isophthalic $(1,3-C_6H_4(CO_2H)_2)$, terephthalic $(1,4-C_{6}H_{4}(CO_{2}H)_{2}),$ naphthoic, toluic, and benzoic acids. It appeared that the unidentified components of the mixture were probably the more highly condensed aromatic acids (Holly, Montgomery, and Gohlke, 1956). Further decarboxylation established the presence of benzene, naphthalene, biphenyl, indan, and phenanthrene ring systems, some of which carried alkyl substituents (Montgomery et al., 1956).

Montgomery and Holly (1957) applied the copper-quinoline method to the decarboxylation of acids obtained by the oxidation of Pocahontas coal (Franke et al., 1952), and found by the mass spectrograph that the eight most important nuclei contained in these acids were as follows: methylnaphthalene 38 percent, benzene 35 percent, biphenyl 9 percent, naphthalene 4 percent, phenanthrene 3.3 percent, benzene with five carbon atoms in side chains 1.8 percent, benzophenone 1.7 percent, and toluene 1.5 percent. Terphenyl and a fraction tentatively identified as phenylnaphthalene were also found. They state that the coal "thus consists largely of these aromatic nuclei, probably linked together by more readily oxidizable structures."

Jüttner (1956) also decarboxylated the primary acids obtained from his nitric acid oxidation of coal, and found the following in his decarboxylation product: benzene, toluene, xylene, and small amounts of naphthalene, methylnaphthalene, biphenyl, diphenyl oxide, and fluorene. Here again is evidence of the presence of alkyl groups on the ring systems of the acids formed on oxidation, and it may be presumed that these alkyl groups existed in the original coal.

Grosskinsky (1950) "pre-oxidized" coals by heating them in air at 200-300°, and stated that if these products were oxidized further in the liquid phase, they yielded cyclic acids which could be used in making lacquers, resins, plasticizers, etc.

Sufficient importance has been attached to these oxidative methods of preparing organic acids from coal that several patents have been issued relating to processes involving nitric acid, perhaps accompanied or followed by other oxidizing agents or catalysts (Juettner, 1939, 1943; Howard, 1951; Bergwerksverband, etc., 1943, 1955) and the use of oxygen and alkali at elevated temperatures and pressures (Carnegie Institute of Technology, 1950). A modification of this process involves a preliminary oxidation of the coal with nitric acid or sulfur trioxide (Kiebler, 1949). These polycarboxylic acids are considered as possible starting materials in the manufacture of synthetic plastics. The neutral esters of these acids with monohydric alcohols have been patented as hydraulic fluids (Montgomery et al., 1950).

NITROGEN IN COAL

The oxidation of coal has provided some hint as to the nature of the nitrogen which comprises approximately 0.5 to 1.5 percent of the moisture- and ash-free substance. In a study of the Kjeldahl method of nitrogen determination as applied to coals, Beet (1940) found that the sulfuric acid digestion (oxidation) of coal did not convert all of the nitrogen of the coal to ammonia unless continued for some hours beyond the point at which the reaction mixture becomes clear. Interruption of the oxidation at the "clear" stage resulted in the isolation of nicotinic acid, suggesting that the coal originally contained a part of its

Соон Nicotinic acid

nitrogen in six-membered heterocyclic rings which bore at least one carbon side chain. This is confirmed by the observations of Entel (1955) who isolated pyridine and related compounds from the products obtained by decarboxylating the mixture of acids formed in the oxidation of coal with oxygen and alkali at elevated temperatures and pressures.

Kinney et al. (1948) made a study of the fate of nitrogen in the potassium permanganate oxidation of coal and found their results suggested that "the basic nitrogen structures in the proteins have not been greatly altered by the process of coalification," although proteins, as such, were not present in coal. It was also indicated that the nitrogen of coal became more predominantly of the tertiary amine type as the rank of the coal increased.

PHENOLIC GROUPS

The gaining of information about the nature of coal is not limited to studies of

the identifiable products of oxidative degradation; the course and rate of the reaction may also be revealing.

From his observations on the behavior of the humic acids, bitumens, and phenols, Tronov (1940a, 1940b) concluded that, in the oxidation of coal, oxygen attacked phenolic structures to form first polyhydric phenols, then carbonyl compounds which on further oxidation release carbon dioxide to form acid anhydride or carboxyl groups, some of which might yield CO_2 by decarboxylation.

Yohe and Blodgett (1947) studied the oxidation of various coals with oxygen in the presence of sodium hydroxide solution before and after methylating with dimethyl sulfate. They found that the methylation of coals below the rank of medium-volatile bituminous resulted in an appreciable decrease in the rate at which they absorbed oxygen, presumably because of the conversion of oxidizable phenolic groups to oxidation-resistant phenol methyl ether structures. Coals of medium-volatile rank (about 89 percent carbon) and higher were not methylated appreciably, and the dimethyl sulfate treatment had no significant effect on the rate of their oxidation. Thus it would appear that the lower rank coals contain phenolic structures which diminish in amount as the rank increases and vanish at about 89 percent carbon content. This has been confirmed by infrared studies of coals (Brown, 1955).

Some of the changes which occur in coals during oxidation have been detected by physical as well as chemical methods. Vucht, Rietveld, and Krevelen (1955) determined the infrared absorption spectra of a coal of 87 percent carbon content after oxidation for one hour, 24 hours, and 48 hours. They noted an increase in OH and C:O groups.

Adams and Pitt (1955) heated a bituminous coal 20 hours in air at 140°C., another portion in air 5.5 hours at 200°C., and a third 5.5 hours in vacuum at 200°C. Infrared spectra of these samples showed changes that they attributed to an increase in H-bonded OH, C:O, and acid dimers for the oxidized samples, but changes in the vacuum-heated sample were minor. They suggest that the major oxidation reaction has been in the formation of aromatic carboxylic acid groups, possibly at the expense of peripheral CH groups on condensed aromatic nuclei.

Brooks and Maher (1954, 1957) titrated weakly acidic groups in coal with sodium aminoethoxide in ethylenediamine (Katz and Glenn, 1952), and found an increase in total acidic groups as the coal was progressively oxidized in air. Yohe and coworkers (1955) exposed samples of Illinois coals to atmospheric oxidation at room temperature and at about 100°C. for periods of time up to about 100 days. Although the coking properties as judged by the free swelling index and agglutinating value dropped rapidly, the phenolic group content as estimated by methylation with dimethyl sulfate and subsequent methoxyl determination remained essentially constant or increased slowly.

Other effects of oxidation of coal are discussed in later sections of this paper under "Effects of Oxidation on Carbonizing Properties" and "Methods of Estimating the Extent of Weathering or Oxidation."

Thus there emerges from the studies of the oxidation reactions and products the following picture of the chemical structure of coal:

Coal is a complex, heterogeneous mixture of high molecular weight substances. Aromatic (benzene) ring systems and condensed aromatic ring systems are present, and these condensed nuclei increase in size and form an increasingly greater part of the total substance as the rank of the coal increases. Aliphatic structures exist as methyl groups and possibly as side chains containing two or more carbon atoms, as connecting chains between aromatic nuclei, or as parts of hydroaromatic units.

Part of the oxygen present in low and intermediate rank coals is present as phenolic hydroxyl, but this type of structure practically vanishes as coal attains about 89 percent carbon content.

Part of the nitrogen is probably present in heterocyclic structures. Other methods of investigation (hydrogenation, for example) have given results consistent with this picture, but a detailed discussion of these is beyond the scope of this paper.

STORAGE AND SPONTANEOUS COMBUSTION

Taylor (1941) has given the opinion that the advantages of storing coal compensate for the losses sustained by its deterioration (except for loss of coking power) under normal conditions where the temperature rise in the pile is small and of reasonably short duration.

Yet the questions that face users of coal are not whether to store it, but where, how much, what kind, and under what conditions. The very nature of the economy and technology of our civilization requires that coal be stored by the consumer or distributor prior to its use. Such storage may be in any amount or under any condition, from a few pounds in a bag on the back porch of a modest dwelling to thousands of tons piled high adjacent to a large power plant or factory or the rail yards or docks of a trans-shipment center. And storage of coal presents problems of various kinds and magnitudes, many of them due to the oxidizability of the coal substance.

These problems, indeed, are not confined to coal in storage in the usual sense. Coal in transit in railroad cars or in the holds of ships is subject to deterioration, to loss by fire of spontaneous origin, and so also is coal in the seam where Nature deposited it, once its cover is removed and it is exposed to air and made ready for mining.

The various aspects of the deterioration of coal during storage have been ably summarized by Schmidt (1945). Scott (1944) in a publication dealing with fires in anthracite mines has also discussed many related topics, including problems encountered with coals of lower ranks and with storage piles as well as the specific problems of anthracite mines, and he has gone into the effects of various factors and conditions; he gives a bibliography of 411 references. Other resumés of the literature on spontaneous combustion of coal have been prepared by writers in other countries; among these are Sanchez Marco (126 references, 1947), Chakravorty (45 references, 1955), and Rafikov (35 references, 1956). In view of this, only some of the more recent developments are mentioned here.

The effects of conditions of storage have been considered in several publications, but new ideas are not plentiful. Although it has been indicated that, in general, spontaneous heating is less with coal of low moisture contents (Jessen, 1943; Ellis, 1943; Olpinski, 1948), Frey (1943) examined this question more carefully by means of manometric measurements of oxygen absorption. His findings were that dry coal shows the least oxygen absorption; oxidation becomes more rapid with increasing water content until a maximum value is reached, and further increase of water content results in retarding oxidation. It is for this reason that sites of ignition in coal piles after heavy rains are to be found in the interior of the piles rather than in the water-saturated zone near the surface.

It has also been reported that the presence of catalysts such as sulfur and iron compounds is important (Jessen, 1943); that fine coal is more readily ignited than coarse (Jessen, 1943; Ellis, 1943), and that a poor distribution of particle sizes may increase the probability of trouble (Ellis, 1943; Chalk, 1944). The usual recommendations for layer piling and compaction, and the admonitions for avoiding sources of heat and air drafts have been repeated (Ellis, 1943; Lange and Winzen, 1954). Oreshko (1951b) has stated that for all coals screening and classifying to remove dust and fines promotes safety of storage.

Staemmler (1954) has stated that the iron content of a brown coal, especially iron salts resulting from the weathering of pyrite, influences spontaneous ignition, and Romwalter (1947) claims that selfignition is promoted by the presence of alkaline water derived from weathered minerals of the adjacent rock layers. Migdalski (1956) has said that iron aids the oxidation of coal, but that the role of moisture is questionable.

Whether or not a given pile of coal in storage will heat spontaneously does not depend solely upon either the conditions of storage or the inherent properties of the coal itself-both are important. An inherently "dangerous" coal may be stored safely if proper precautions are taken, or a "safe" coal may heat if carelessly piled. In line with this, Blaskett (1948) has given an approximate measure of the tendency of piled coal to heat. He indicates that the tendency is directly proportional to the initial rate of oxygen consumption, to the specific heat, and to the density of the coal, proportional to the square of the height of the pile, and inversely proportional to the thermal conductivity of the coal. In Blaskett's formula only the height of the pile is a condition of storage; the other factors are inherent properties of the coal. Such factors as size, size segregation, moisture, etc., are not mentioned, whereas properties such as the nature of the coal itself would doubtless be included in the factor involving initial rate of oxygen absorption.

Although most investigators in recent years have avoided the moot question of the effect of pyrite on spontaneous combustion, one may still find reports to back whichever side of the argument he chooses to support. For example, Mapstone has pointed out that organic peroxides may oxidize pyrite (FeS₂) to FeS (1954b). He has given a theory (1954a) for the occurrence of spontaneous combustion in pyritic coals which postulates the oxidation of pyrite by the oxygen of the coal-oxygen complex (pages 11-13) to give finely divided ferrous sulfide, which "is known to be pyrophoric."

Collet (1946) notes that pyrite is subject to oxidation in contact with air, particularly in the presence of moisture, and states that it may cause spontaneous combustion in piles of coal exposed to rain for several months. Ellis (1943) recommends selecting low-sulfur coal for storage.

Teichmann (1945) oxidized samples of pyrite, coal, and coal-pyrite mixtures at 105° in a stream of moist oxygen and concluded that although the actual amount of oxidation was small, it was appreciably greater for the coal-pyrite mixture than for the pyrite alone. The rate of oxidation was greatest during the first week, then decreased to a value which remained practically constant from the third week onward. Toledo (1954) observed that the most readily oxidizable coals are those of low rank (for example, lignite) that are friable, recently mined, have a high content of pyrite and a large proportion of fines.

Berkowitz and Schein (1951) comment that the common explanation of spontaneous heating as attributable to the oxidation of pyrite is of secondary importance except possibly for certain high-sulfur, open-structured coals.

Lemaire (1943) says that the "presence of pyrites is not to be feared when the coal is in large particles," and further that "presence of a high-ash content or other foreign bodies seems, like the pyrites, to retard oxidation provided that the iron content is very low."

Frey (1943) measured the oxygen absorption of a mixture of powdered coal with equally finely ground pyrite and found that this admixture of pyrite resulted in the inhibition of oxygen adsorption, and that the same effect was obtained with coal which has a high ash content and a low percentage of iron oxide; a high iron oxide content promotes oxidation.

These results are similar to those reported by Elder and coworkers (1945) who found that the ash and mineral constituents present in a coal appeared to diminish its tendency to heat spontaneously. They compared washed and unwashed samples of the same coals in which the unwashed samples contained larger amounts of total sulfur and pyritic sulfur, and found that washing reduced the ash and sulfur content and increased the tendency to heat spontaneously. They said that the loss in spontaneous heating tendency due to reduction of pyritic sulfur was more than compensated by the increase in concentration of the pure coal substance.

From his studies of South African coals, Sevenster (1952) concluded that pyrite played no part in the absorption of oxygen. In a summary of work done by the U.S. Bureau of Mines, Davis (1945) has written: "It is sometimes suggested that oxidation of the mineral matter, notably pyrite, may exert strong influence on the spontaneous heating of coal. Conceivably it might heat more rapidly than the coal substance at a critical point on the characteristic coal curve and thus accelerate the heating disproportionately at this point. However, none of the hundreds of curves obtained for different coals have shown inflection points and, therefore, it seems doubtful if the pyrite can exert the effect supposed."

The possibility that growth processes of micro-organisms may bring about heating that contributes to the spontaneous ignition of coals has been considered. Experiments showed, however, that in coal samples inoculated with bacteria, no temperature rise attributable to their action could be detected unless glucose was also added, and that partial sterilization of heating coal piles by injecting formalin did not retard heating (Zavarzina, 1956). It was concluded that spontaneous heating and ignition in coal piles are chemical chain processes, not bacterial.

These observations on bacterial action appear to check well with those of Dhar and Agarwal (1952), who mixed coal with carbohydrate material (sugar or straw), added this mixture to soil samples, and compared the results with experiments in which the coal and the carbohydrate were added separately to the soil. Loss of carbon from the coal was greater in the presence of the carbohydrate. It may be presumed that the carbohydrate served as nutrient material for micro-organisms of the soil samples.

The heat of wetting has been cited as a cause of the rise of temperatures to dangerously high values (Berkowitz and Schein, 1951), especially where coals of low rank have previously been dried, then brought into contact with water; this is consistent with Lemaire's (1943) statement to the effect that, up to a certain limit, hygroscopic water accelerates oxidation, and with Frey's (1943) observation about the site of hot spots in a coal pile following rain.

EVALUATION OF SUSCEPTIBILITY

It has long been known that some coals are far more susceptible to spontaneous combustion than others, and various procedures have been devised in attempts to evaluate this tendency of coals prior to shipping or storing them.

Some of these evaluations are correlations of known properties or characteristics with susceptibility to spontaneous combustion. Olpinski (1948) has made the astute observation that the greatest tendency to spontaneous ignition was shown by coal samples from mines where underground fires are most frequent. Others have correlated petrographic composition with fire hazard; Marevich and Travin (1953) state that the durains are most stable, whereas the most oxidizable are tectonically compressed specimens of the vitrain and vitraino-fusain classes, and that aggregates where fusain and glossy coals are in direct contact with each other are particularly "dangerous."

Nötzold (1940) stated that certain vitrains are most susceptible to spontaneous combustion, and proposed a theory that the process of self-oxidation is a result of the reforming of the humus compounds which were made unstable by the loss of gases under pressure. High hydrogen content has been correlated with an increased ability of a coal to absorb oxygen (Kartvelishvili, 1946), and coals which are noncrumbling have been found to be most amenable to storage (Szadeczky-Kardoss, 1944).

Other investigators have utilized various experimental methods for judging the susceptibility of a coal to spontaneous combustion. One of these methods involves measuring the amount of oxygen absorbed by coal (Schmidt and Elder, 1940); Skochinskii and Makarov (1939a) found that the amount of oxygen absorbed by Emanzhelin brown coal, which easily undergoes spontaneous combustion, was about four times that absorbed by the more stable Lisichan coal at 25°C., and that the difference was still greater at 50° and at 75°C.

Crennan (1950) measured rates of absorption of oxygen by Australian coals and found that at the two sizes he used (-18+36 B. S. S. and -1/4+1/8 inch B. S. S.), size had little effect, but that the effect of temperature was marked, the rate being greater at 37° than at 20°. He reported that there was no clear-cut difference between coal types. Jessen (1943) and Blaskett (1948) also used oxygen absorption methods in their studies of spontaneous combustion.

Virtala and coworkers (1949) estimated tendencies toward spontaneous combustion of both liquid and solid fuels by determining the oxygen absorption, heat evolution on oxidation, and the iodine number (Wijs method), and Tronov and Grigor'ev (1940) recommended the use of the iodine numbers of coals as a measure of their spontaneous combustibility.

Chalupa and Drabek (1955) used a combination of factors to express the tendency of coal to self-ignition; these included the rate constant for the oxidation of the coal substance, the amount of oxygen consumed, thermal losses during oxidation, presence of inert gases, and composition of the ash. They stated that an increase in hydrophilic properties increased the oxidation rate.

Roga and Ihnatowicz (1951) have reported that the Kreulen (1934) method of determining the "humic acid curves" of coals can be considered a reliable indication of their affinity for oxygen.

Olpinski and Gabrys (1953); Olpinski, Pawlikowski, and Rozmus (1953); Olpinski and Pawlikowski (1953); and Olpinski (1953) investigated the specific surface of 35 coals by means of nitrogen adsorption at about -195° , and found that the lower the specific surface, the lower were the hygroscopic water, the density, and the tendency to spontaneous ignition. They studied the consumption of oxygen from air at 50-80°, and found that after an initial period of 3-4 hours the oxygen consumed approached a constant value; that the oxidation of the coal caused a decrease in mechanical strength; that washed coal heated most rapidly; that high ash and moisture contents greatly retarded spontaneous ignition; and that chemisorption increased rapidly with rise of temperature.

A number of investigators have made use of different methods of determining ignition temperatures. Oreshko (1950a) determined the temperature at which coal attained its maximum weight when heated in contact with oxygen, and defined this temperature as the "ignition temperature." Kessler (1955) used a similar procedure. Using the apparatus of Bunte and Kölmel (1922), Schroeder (1954) determined ignition temperatures. She placed the coal sample in an electrically heated vertical quartz tube, passed heated air or oxygen through the sample, measured the temperature in the coal, and recorded the temperature at which spontaneous heating occurred, raising the temperature of the coal to that of ignition.

Schroeder found that thicker layers of coal, coal of finer particle size, and the use of oxygen rather than air gave lower ignition temperature values. Ignition temperatures increased linearly as volatile matter decreased to about 15-18 percent, but rose much more rapidly as the volatile matter decreased further. Fresh coal samples had lower ignition temperatures than oxidized coals, and coals known to be susceptible to spontaneous combustion gave lower ignition temperatures than those which did not have such a tendency. Thus by suitable measurements on fresh coal samples, the relative tendencies toward spontaneous combustion may be evaluated.

Olpinski (1948, 1952) used a method (Sebastian and Mayers, 1937) similar in principle, and from the results of some 3000 determinations, reached similar conclusions.

Toledo (1954) employed two methods based on the general principles of ignition temperature determination. In the first method he placed a sample of coal in a tube, heated it to 150° and forced dry air through it at the rate of 10 liters per hour; the coal was adjudged safe, of medium oxidizability, or unsafe if the temperature fell, rose somewhat to a constant value, or rose to ignition, respectively. In the second method he heated the coal sample at 7° per minute in a current (10 liters per hour) of dry oxygen, and recorded as "flash point" the temperature at which the first glowing coal particle was detected.

Other variations of the ignition point methods have been used. A mixture of coal with an oxidizing agent, such as sodium nitrate, has been subjected to treatment with hot air, and measurements made on the temperatures of inlet air and selected points in the bed (Veselovskii and Terpogosova, 1950). It is reported that the temperature of ignition so measured is a useful index of the spontaneous ignition tendency.

Budryk (1952) used a mixture of coal dust with sodium nitrite, and reported a good correlation between volatile matter contents of coals and their ignition temperatures. Contrary to the findings of Marevich and Travin (1953), however, he stated that vitrain and durain constituents have practically identical ignition temperatures. He stated further that unoxidized coals have similar temperatures of spontaneous ignition.

Orleanskaya (1950) also used a mixture of sodium nitrite with coals, and apparently ran parallel control experiments on the coals without the oxidizing agent. He raised the temperature of the test samples 5° per minute and recorded, by means of a thermocouple, the temperature at the instant of self-ignition. He concluded that this ignition temperature was lowered by atmospheric oxidation that occurred during mining or other exposure, and reported that the addition of the oxidizing agent lowered the ignition temperature by 25-40° for an easily oxidized coal, but only 1-5° for coals that are oxidized with difficulty.

Zashkvara and Krym (1953) used the same method of determining the ignition temperature and reported that the values so obtained were lower with low rank coals and higher with high rank coals, that the ignition temperature drops with increasing time of storage or oxidation, and that a coal that undergoes less change in this respect for a given time possesses greater stability toward aging. Orleanskaya (1952) described also the measurement of a similar drop in the ignition temperature which is brought about by a preliminary oxidation of the sample with hydrogen peroxide. He reported that a drop of less than 10° indicates a "safe" coal, whereas a 20-50° drop indicates a "dangerous" one.

Skochinskii et al. (1944) used a differential thermal analysis type of equipment where the coal sample was heated in contact with oxygen (air?), and judged the liability to spontaneous combustion from these results.

A special adiabatic calorimeter was constructed and used by Elder and coworkers (1945) for measuring the relative tendencies of various coals toward spontaneous heating. They tested a number of coals of various ranks and concluded that the tendency to heat spontaneously depended on the following factors: (a) rank—as the rank decreased the spontaneous heating tendency increased; (b) temperature-heating increased very rapidly as the temperature increased; (c) history of the coal, that is, the amount of oxygen it had already absorbed, for the reaction rate decreased rapidly as the time of storage and the quantity of oxygen consumed by the coal increased; (d) oxygen concentration - the rate of oxidation is proportional to the 0.66 power of the oxygen concentration in contact with the coal; (e) the surface exposed—the rate is proportional to the cube root of the surface area; and (f) the moisture and ash contents of the coal—ash appears to be an inert diluent which decreases the relative heating tendency, whereas the presence of appreciable moisture also reduces this tendency because of the latent heat of vaporization and high specific heat of water.

An adiabatic calorimeter was also used by Doornum (1954) to detect susceptibility to spontaneous combustion. He also explained methods of calculation which provide a means of judging the suitability of storage arrangements for coals of known characteristics.

Tanaka and Yamasaki (1955) used a simple calorimeter to measure the heat

evolved when evacuated coal with fresh surfaces was placed in humid air.

Bogovavlenskii and Petrenko (1957)crushed coal to -1.5 mm., sealed it in a steel bomb under an initial pressure of four atmospheres of oxygen, and heated it at boiling water temperature. They judged its resistance to oxidation by the length of the induction period (no formation of free methane, carbon dioxide, or carbon monoxide) and the rate of the reaction after the end of the induction period. Induction periods ranged from 7 minutes for a brown coal to 120 minutes for an anthracite, and reaction rates ranged from 0.0125 to 0.0019 atmospheres drop in pressure per minute for the same coals.

PREVENTION OF DETERIORATION

The protection of coal in storage piles may be considered from two points of view, because the prevention of oxidation and the prevention of spontaneous combustion are not necessarily synonymous. If only prevention of self-ignition is desired, one method is to provide good ventilation; this permits slow oxidation but removes the heat as it is generated and thus prevents an increase in temperature which might lead to fire.

In most cases it would be more desirable, if feasible, to prevent oxidation of the coal, for this would prevent not only spontaneous combustion, but also the deterioration which causes loss of calorific value, cokeability, etc. Much has been published on the exclusion of oxygen from coal by storage in compacted and/or layered piles, covered piles, under water storage, etc., and summaries of these methods are available (Schmidt, 1945; Scott, 1944; Toledo, 1954; Allen and Parry, 1954; Bodmer, 1941; Goodman et al., 1946; Clark and Walker, 1951).

Inhibiting oxidation by the addition of small amounts of certain materials ("antioxidants") has met with outstanding success in the fields of rubber and petroleum chemistry, but has received very little attention from coal chemists. The problems of treating a heterogeneous solid rather than a homogeneous liquid, of applying sufficient and suitable protecting material to the surfaces of particles of such a friable substance as coal, and doing it for a cost of not more than a few cents per ton of coal are quite different from the problems encountered in other industries. Nevertheless, it would seem that the use of antioxidants may offer possibilities that would warrant exploration.

Gillet and Fastre (1944) found that a coal treated with a 3 percent solution of hydroquinone and then exposed to air, maintained nearly constant H/C and O/C ratios for as long as 24 days, whereas a coal not so protected showed a pronounced drop in H/C ratio and a marked rise in O/C ratio.

Skochinskii and Makarov (1939b) investigated the effects of adding certain "antipyrogenic" substances to coals. They tested the following: air with 1.76 percent of sulfur hexafluoride, a mixture of 0.5 percent solutions of calcium chloride and sodium silicate in a 0.16-0.25 percent solution of calcium bicarbonate, and a 1-5 percent suspension of calcium bicarbonate in water. It was reported that all of these substances decreased considerably the amount of oxygen adsorbed by the coal. They stated further that an "ultra-hard water" made up with calcium bicarbonate produced satisfactory results in fighting fires.

The effect of adding carbon tetrachloride vapor to oxygen passed over coal in oxidation experiments has been studied by Grigor'ev (1940) who found that it had no inhibiting action, but served only as an inert medium.

Orleanskaya (1950) hinted at possibilities of protecting coal when, after stating that treating coal with dilute aqueous solutions of surface-active agents lowered the ignition temperature, he added: "However, certain surface-active agents have the opposite effect and are inhibitors of selfignition."

In investigations made by Terpogosova (1954), petroleum products, their emulsions, soaps, fatty acids, calcium hydroxide, and "other substances" were studied for their inhibiting action on coal oxidation. All petroleum products and their emulsions protected coal from oxidation, but the other substances mentioned were "less effective."

Yohe et al. (1951-2) immersed 10-gram samples of Illinois No. 6 seam coal from Franklin County in a 5 percent solution of an antioxidant in ether, and the volume of oxygen absorbed by this sample over several days was measured after draining and drying it. Comparison was made with control samples similarly treated with ether, but without the antioxidant. Antioxidants tested were: hydroquinone, 2-4,6tri-tert-butylphenol, diphenylamine, Nnitrosodiphenylamine, and 2,2-bis- (4-hydroxyphenyl) propane, all of which are known to have antioxidant action in other applications, and a commercial paraffin wax. None of these antioxidants gave significant protection to the coal. Of all the additives tested, wax most inhibited the absorption of oxygen, possibly because of the formation of a coating on the surfaces of the coal particles.

It is interesting to note that a process for treating lump coal to prevent weathering and consequent degradation has been patented (Marmaduke, 1939); it involves covering the surfaces with a waxy coating.

ESTIMATION OF THE EXTENT OF OXIDATION

It would be of value to many a user of coal to be able to determine the amount of weathering or oxidation his coal had undergone when he obtained or used it.

Numerous methods have been proposed for doing this (Kramers, 1946), but most of them are qualitative in nature and of practical value only if one is able to obtain similar data on a fresh sample of the same coal for comparison. It is well known, for example, that the plastic and coking properties of many coals are significantly changed by weathering which may be so slight as to defy detection by analytical methods (Schmidt, Elder, and Davis, 1940; Schmidt, 1945).

It has, therefore, been suggested that the evaluation of such plastic properties be used to determine the extent of weathering or oxidation. Actually such "determination" is in a qualitative sense, and is usually used to differentiate between a fresh coal which is known to give satisfactory results in the coke oven, for example, and a weathered shipment of the same coal which may have deteriorated to such an extent that it would cause trouble (for example, difficult pushing) in the coke oven, or produce an unsatisfactory coke.

A marked decrease in the agglutinating value is one of the most sensitive indications that the coal has been oxidized (Schmidt, 1941; Schmidt, Elder, and Davis, 1940; Rees and Wagner, 1943). Similarly the free swelling index (ASTM, 1951) falls off rapidly with oxidative deterioration (Rees and Wagner, 1943), and because of the convenience and rapidity with which this determination can be made, it is used in a number of coke plants to judge the freshness of their coals. The "fluidity" as measured by the Gieseler plastometer shows a similar trend with increasing oxidation (Rees et al., 1955). Use of the dilatometer (Casamassima and Meo, 1951) has also been suggested for estimating the degree of oxidation of coal.

Changes in the yields of by-products (Marshall and Draycott, 1954; Bastick, 1954), and a deterioration of the physical properties of the coke produced are also cited as sensitive measures of the extent of oxidation of coal (Schmidt, Elder, and Davis, 1940).

Brewer and coworkers (1948), after making a thorough study of the effects of oxidation on the coking properties of coals, stated: "Of the many properties studied, the best criteria for judging extent of oxidation of coal appear to be its agglutinating value, yield of tar, and strength index of its coke."

Onusaitis and Khrisanfova (1947) have indicated that measurements of electrical conductivity on coke samples can be used to indicate the degree of oxidation of the original coals.

Changes in the ability of coals to absorb gases or vapors have been correlated with the degree of oxidation of the coals. Lamba and Ettinger (1955) state that the original surface of coal is lyophobic toward water, and that it becomes lyophilic upon oxidation; then as the surface becomes hydrated, there is a marked reduction of its capacity to absorb methane. This effect may be related to the observation made by Zagrebel'naya (1946) in his studies of the effects of various factors on the bulk density of coal. He found that although the oxidation of coal increased its specific gravity (3.7 percent increase in "pour weight" after 3.5 months in the laboratory air at 20-28°; 8.5-10.6 percent increase after 72 hours at 130-40°), the effectiveness of treating the coal with kerosene diminished with progressive oxidation. Thus the volume weight ("bulk density") of a coal increased 10 percent after wetting it with kerosene, yet after oxidizing this coal for ten days, similar wetting resulted in an increase of volume weight of only 5.1 percent.

The effects noted by Sun (1954) in his studies of the flotation characteristics of coals also appear to be related to the change from lyophobic to lyophilic nature of the surface as oxidation proceeds. Using a light petroleum oil as collector, he found that although flotabilities were little affected (in fact occasionally benefited) by superficial oxidation at low temperatures, they were lowered gradually upon more extensive oxidation. The effect was attributed to the accumulation of water-insoluble oxidation products at the coal surfaces.

Gogitidze and Plaksin (1956) also reported that the flotability of coals is slightly but regularly impaired by storage in air, and that it can be removed completely with potassium permanganate. The flotability can be partially or completely restored, however, by boiling the coal with water, by heating in a vacuum to 40-60°, or by chemical reduction of the coal surface, as with benzidine, in a 1 percent sodium hydroxide solution.

Vologdin and Kamendrovskaya (1936) and Vologdin (1937) proposed a method for determining the degree of oxidation of coal based on its action on solutions of ferric ion. They stated that ferric ion was reduced but not adsorbed by unoxidized coal, whereas oxidized coal only adsorbed it. However, subsequent work by Grigor'ev and Plekhanova (1940) indicated that this method was not reliable, and that the degree of oxidation of Kuznetsk coals could not be determined by use of ferric chloride or ferric sulfate.

Thomas and coworkers (Thomas, 1953; Walton et al., 1953) found that the electrostatic charge acquired by a stream of fine coal particles after making contact with a metal surface was related to the degree of oxidation of the coal, and they used this effect as the basis of an instrument for quality control in plant operation.

Bangham and Dryden (1950), although not searching for a method to determine the degree of oxidation of coal, observed that oxidation caused an increase in the heat of wetting with methanol, and an increase in the difference in heat of wetting between methanol and ethylenediamine. They attributed the greater increase in heat of wetting with ethylenediamine to heat of reaction with carboxyl groups Podbel'skiĭ formed during oxidation. (1947) has described a method based on the absorption of pyridine vapors by coal samples which are exposed to an atmosphere of these vapors in a thermostat. A method based on the measurement of luminescence of alcohol-benzene extracts of coal has been published (Men'shchikov and Rozmanova, 1955). Oxidation causes such changes in the organic constituents of the coal that as the oxidation progresses, both the intensity and wave length of the luminescence change, the wave length being displaced toward the violet end of the spectrum.

Although it has received little application in the determination of the extent of oxidation, it would appear that the direct measurement of the acidic groups present in a coal should be of value in this connection. Methods which might be applicable are the sodium aminoethoxide titration as used by Brooks and Maher (1954, 1957) and the sodium hydroxide-sodium carbonate titrations proposed by Uporova and Rafikov (1956).

Kawana and Sato (1956) found that the air oxidation of a lignite increased its sorption of UO_2^{++} ion from a solution of $UO_2 (NO_3)_2$ from 0.83 to12.12 milligrams per gram.

Determination of the changes in chemical composition may be of value in following extensive oxidation. Zabavin and coworkers (1956) have published analyses of various grades of Kuznetsk Basin coals which had been subjected to different degrees of natural weathering.

Several investigators have made use of the permanganate number in determining the degree of oxidation of coals. This is the number of cubic centimeters of N potassium permanganate solution reduced by 0.5 gram of ash-free, pyridine-extracted coal in one hour at 100°C. (Heathcoat, 1933). Khrisanfova (1949) says that oxygen acts as a polymerizing agent in the original oxidation of coal, and, in the case of agglomerating coals, lowers the permanganate number, which increases again only after additional oxidation.

Egorova (1942) considers that the permanganate numbers can be used to determine the degree of oxidation of coals, and to distinguish old, weathered deposits from unweathered ones. He reports that for some coals the permanganate number decreases in the first stage of oxidation, then increases rapidly in the second stage, whereas for other varieties there is almost no change in the first stage, but a rapid increase in the second.

Radspinner and Howard (1943) oxidized several typical bituminous coals at various temperatures up to 125°C. for varying periods of time, then determined the carboxyl groups present by reaction of the coals with calcium acetate and subsequent determination of the acetic acid liberated. They found a linear relationship between oxygen known to be present and the carboxyl found which permitted an estimation of the extent of surface oxidation. They also found a more sensitive determination which was based on a linear relation between fixed oxygen and oxides of carbon evolved by thermal decomposition of the oxidized coals at 350°C. in a vacuum.

Zabramnyi and Tadzhiev (1955) also utilized the analyses of gases evolved during low-temperature carbonization as a means of judging the extent of oxidation of coals. They found that the ratio of hydrocarbons plus hydrogen to oxides of carbon $(C_nH_m+CH_4+H_2)/(CO_2+CO)$ was 7.27-10.4 for nonoxidized bituminous coals, but dropped to 0.12-6.50 for oxidized bituminous coals. The ratio of oxygen evolved in water to that evolved in oxides of carbon was 3.78-4.25 for fresh coals, and 0.27-3.89 for oxidized coals.

The use of changes in "ignition temperature" of coal with atmospheric oxidation to estimate the extent of this oxidation has been suggested by a number of authors, but it brings to light some differences of opinion which may serve to emphasize the fact that coals are not all alike, and that it is dangerous to generalize on the assumption that what one investigator has learned in studying one coal must therefore be true of all other coals.

Budryk (1952) implies that unoxidized coals have ignition temperatures similar to those of oxidized coals; Rees and Wagner (1943), working with high-volatile bituminous C and A coals from Illinois, stated that ignition temperatures showed no significant change on storage and atmospheric oxidation. Schroeder (1954) reported that oxidized coal samples had higher ignition temperatures than the corresponding fresh samples.

A number of other authors, on the other hand, have reported that oxidation results in the lowering of the ignition temperature.

Orleanskaya (1952) says that spontaneous combustion of coal is preceded by an incubation period of low-temperature oxidation accompanied by a drop in ignition temperature. In further work on the determination of ignition temperatures by heating coal samples mixed with an oxidizing agent such as sodium nitrite, he concluded that initial oxidation (for example, during mining) lowered the ignition temperature (Orleanskaya, 1950).

Several investigators have reported that although the ignition temperature drops when coal undergoes oxidation, it may be restored to the original "fresh coal" value by admixture of benzidine with the oxidized coal (Zashkvara and Krym, 1953; Lamba and Ettinger, 1955; Veselovskii and Terpogosova, 1954; Veselovskii and Orleanskaya, 1954) thus making it possible to compare the ignition temperature of the oxidized coal with that of "fresh" coal when only the oxidized sample is at hand.

Zashkvara and Krym (1953), apparently basing their work on the findings of Veselovskii and Orleanskaya (1951), report the addition of benzidine in this manner to restore the coal to its highest ignition temperature, correpsonding to "0 percent oxidation," then treating a sample with perhydrol (hydrogen peroxide) which changes the ignition temperature to its lowest value, corresponding to "100 percent oxidation." The degree of oxidation of the specimen can then be expressed as a percentage oxidation stage.

Farenden and Spencer (1955) oxidized a Yorkshire weakly caking coal in a fluidized bed with air at 150°. Determinations on samples removed periodically showed a linear relationship between specific volume and the hydrogen content (V=0.046H+ 0.527), and indicated that such a relationship might be of general value in studying the extent of oxidation of a coal.

The occurrence of sulfate sulfur in coal is usually an indication that the coal has been exposed to an oxidizing environment. Rees and Kalinowski (1939) showed that coal samples stored 4.5 years at 30-32° gained on the average 330 percent in sulfate sulfur content while suffering a loss of only 2.29 percent in calorific value.

EFFECTS OF OXIDATION ON COKING PROPERTIES

The changes in coking properties of various coals upon oxidation have been studied by numerous investigators over many years, and the results have been summarized by Schmidt (1945).

It has been recognized that an appreciable falling off in coking power as detected by the quality of the coke (Davis et al., 1947), or by the laboratory measurements of such intimately related properties as Gieseler fluidity (Rees et al., 1955; Davis et al., 1947; Wildenstein, 1953), free swelling index (Yohe et al., 1955), or agglutinating value (Yohe et al., 1955; Schmidt, et al., 1943; Davis et al., 1947) may occur before the oxidation is detectable by analytical methods. In fact, Schmidt, Elder, and Davis (1940) have stated that "the majority of coals tested showed serious impairment of coking power before they are oxidized enough to decrease the heating value by one percent and before their ultimate and proximate analyses show changes definitely greater than the experimental error of analysis."

The effect of temperature on the rate of deterioration of coking coals may be seen in the results of experiments performed by Jackman et al. (1957). They stocked Illinois No. 5 and No. 6 seam coals (3" x 1" size) in out-of-doors piles at different times of year at Urbana, Illinois. They found that although six months of storage through the cold weather of fall, winter, and spring could be tolerated before appreciable deterioration in coking properties became evident, thirty days of storage in the summer was the approximate limit before undesirable changes in coke structure would occur. In both series of experiments they found a slight increase in the tumbler stability value of the coke during the earliest stages of the weathering.

Kamiya (1954) studied the air oxidation of coal, using a fluidized bed process. He found that the caking property of Miike coal (Japan), as measured by the button method, decreased to a constant value within the first twenty minutes above 240°, required more than an hour at 220°, but showed very little decrease of the button index at 180°.

It has been noted that the oxidation of coal increased the viscosity of the coal as measured in the plastic stage (Lambris and Gerdes, 1941; Inouye, 1953), presumably because of the increase in the forces of attraction between the molecules.

Sommers and Peters (1954) indicate that the oxidative aging of coal is a surface phenomenon, and that the changes produced in the nature of the surface prevent the caking of coal particles during carbonization.

Although it is generally recognized that lower rank coals are more susceptible to oxidation than those of higher rank, it must be pointed out that coals of a given rank are not equally susceptible. Such differences within rank have been shown in the effects of oxidation on coke strength. Schmidt et al. (1943) exposed coals to air at about 100°C. and recorded results in terms of the number of days of such oxidation required to reduce the coke strength by 15 percent. They found this value to be 3.4 and 6.5 days for two low-volatile bituminous coals tested; 9.7 to more than 15 days for four medium-volatile bituminous coals; 2.4 to 20.8 days for eight highvolatile A bituminous coals, and 1.3 days for the only high-volatile B bituminous coal tested.

Weber (1941) made tests on coals from four different mines, piling 300 tons of each coal separately in piles three meters deep, and leaving them up to 420 days during which time they were sampled ten times. During storage the coke yield increased at the expense of the tar and lightoil yields, but the amount of lump coke decreased, and its friability increased. The ammonia yield was substantially unchanged. The individual coals behaved differently in regard to both rate of change and coke properties.

Khrisanfova (1950) also reported a decrease in the yields of tar and volatile matter upon oxidation of younger coals, but reported that the oxidation of older coals increased the yield of volatile matter.

Macrae (1943) studied the carbonization of weathered outcrop coal. He found that the gases evolved up to 400° were principally carbon dioxide and water vapor, and attributed the low oil yields to the oxidative alteration of the aliphatic side-chain groups of the coal substance.

Industrial storage of a Kentucky coal (Smith et al., 1953) by approved methods (compacted layering) did not affect its coke making ability in 18 months, but reduced the tar yield by 15 percent; it was estimated that 32 months of storage would result in a decrease of 10 percent in coke strength and 30 percent in tar yield. Brewer and coworkers (1948) in their studies of room temperature and accelerated air oxidation of a variety of coking coals reported that progressive oxidation resulted in a uniform reduction in the yield of dry tar, and that continued oxidation caused the coals to fuse poorly and yield a "pebbly" coke in which some of the original coal particles could be identified.

Gomez et al. (1956) reported that progressive oxidation of a Texas lignite decreased the tar yield and increased the gas yield, and showed that with extended oxidation the gas formed on carbonization was largely carbon dioxide, presumably derived from the humic acid-like structures in the oxidized coal.

Roy and Das (1942) worked with Indian coals, and reported that coking coals lose their coking properties on prolonged oxidation owing to oxidative damage to their vitrain and clarain constituents.

Although most of the work on the effect of oxidation on coking properties has been concerned with atmospheric oxidation, Tuturina and Kaigorodtseva (1953) have reported that nitric acid oxidation also reduces the cokeability of coal.

Higuchi and Shibuya (1954) have reported that as the oxidation of coal proceeds, the C/H ratio becomes larger. This is in accord with the observation made by Howard (1947), who found that the lowtemperature oxidation of coal removes much larger amounts of hydrogen than of carbon on an atomic basis (that is, the atomic H/C ratios in volatile oxidation products are much higher than in the original coal), and suggested that as the hydrogen-rich parts of the coal are probably responsible for plasticizing action in the coking process, this may explain why a little oxidation has a large effect on the coking and swelling properties.

It has been noted that coals differ greatly in the rapidity and extent to which oxidation affects their coking properties. For example, Davis (1945) cites a comparison of a medium-volatile bituminous coal ("Hill") with a high-volatile A bituminous coal ("Pittsburgh"). The former heated only about half as fast as the latter in spontaneous heating tests, but lost its coking power with less than one-third the exposure required for a comparable effect on the latter.

Some coals, notably certain high-volatile B bituminous coals which are used in coking blends, should be used as fresh as possible, because their coking properties are such that very little loss can be tolerated. Others, such as some of the high-volatile A and medium-volatile bituminous coals which naturally possess strong coking properties, may be subjected to considerably longer exposure or greater oxidation without appreciable detrimental effect on the coke; a few even show slightly stronger coke after the early stages of mild oxidation (Kukharenko and Khrisanfova, 1947; Schmidt, 1945, p. 662-5). The latter, however, show a rapid drop in coke quality once the maximum is passed and oxidation is continued.

Under some circumstances coal is deliberately oxidized prior to utilization (Standard Oil Development Co., 1950) in order to decrease its coking, agglutinating, or swelling properties. This is true, for example, in the application of the Wisner low-temperature coking process to highly coking coals (Lesher, 1937, 1940, 1941), and in the preparation of coal for use in other specialized coking processes (Bénézech, 1939), and in making carbonized briquets (Boyer, 1956).

It has been reported that slight oxidation of "fatty" or "gas" coals of good fusibility and fluidity improves their coking properties (Khrisanfova and Soboleva, 1956).

The earlier work on the pretreatment of coal by oxidation prior to carbonization has been summarized by Lowry (1945).

Oreshko and Tislin (1952) have studied the relationship between heating of coal and its oxidation from the opposite point of view, that is, they investigated the effects of heating coal in an inert atmosphere upon its subsequent oxidation behavior. They found that pyrolysis at 270-340°C. resulted in an increase in the rate of formation of high-temperature oxygen complexes, but no significant change in ignition temperature, whereas heating to temperatures above about 400° increased the ignition temperature.

Agrawal and coworkers (1956) found that briquets made from weathered slack coal were not as strong as those made from fresh samples of the same coal, and attributed the difference in part to a weakening of the coal structure itself during weathering.

GASIFICATION AND COMBUSTION

Although a detailed discussion of gasification and combustion is beyond the scope of the present paper, it seems desirable to mention them because both involve oxidation of coal.

The process of gasification, perhaps most easily applied to coke, may be carried out with some coals. It is essentially a partial oxidation in which carbon monoxide is one of the products. Steam may be introduced with the oxygen (Newman and McGee, 1956; Donath, 1956), or the process may be operated intermittently with oxygen and steam cycles alternating; hydrogen and carbon monoxide result from this reaction.

Excellent summaries of the various modifications of these processes are available (Hoeven, 1945; Morgan, 1945). The gas produced may be used directly as a

fuel, or, with a carefully adjusted CO/H_2 ratio the product ("synthesis gas") may be used for the synthesis of liquid hydrocarbon fuels (Storch, 1945; Herbert and Tramm, 1956), methanol (Hirst, 1945), or higher alcohols and various other oxygencontaining organic compounds (Herbert and Tramm, 1956). The literature contains many papers dealing with the production and use of synthesis gas and with gasification in general, and no attempt is made here to compile a bibliography on this topic.

The use of coal as a fuel is oxidation wherein (in the ideal case) all of the carbon is converted to carbon dioxide and all of the hydrogen to water. The goal, of course, is not to obtain knowledge about the coal, nor to produce chemical materials of value, but simply to get the maximum amount of useful energy. The many phases of combustion have received much attention from investigators in chemical and engineering laboratories, and have been summarized by Mayers (1945) and by Orning (1945).

Another phase of the oxidative utilization of coal is seen in the attempts, thus far unsuccessful, to devise a practical method of converting the chemical energy of coal directly to electrical energy by means of the so-called "fuel cell" (Howard, 1945b).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

REFERENCES

Note: Chemical Abstracts usage has been followed for the abbreviations for journal titles. See "List of Periodicals Abstracted by Chemical Abstracts." December, 1956.

- ADAMS, W. N. and PITT, G. J., 1955, Examination of oxidized coal by infrared absorption methods: Fuel, v. 34, p. 383-4.
- AGRAWAL, D. P., IYENGAR, M. S., KRISHNA, M. G., and ZAHEER, S. HUSAIN, 1956, Briquetting of Hyderabad coals. I. Influence of the quality of tar and coal slacks on briquette strength: J. Sci. Ind. Research (India), v. 15B, no. 7, p. 396-401.
- AHMED, MOFIZUD-DIN and KINNEY, CORLISS R., 1950a, Pyrolysis of humic acids prepared from oxidized bituminous coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 72, p. 556-9.
- AHMED, MOFIZUD-DIN and KINNEY, CORLISS R., 1950b, Ozonization of humic acids prepared from oxidized bituminous coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 72, p. 559-61.
- ALLEN, R. R. and PARRY, V. F., 1954, Storage of lowrank coals: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest., no. 5034, 31 pp.
- ASTM, 1951, Designation D 720-46: Am. Soc. Testing Materials, Standards on Coal and Coke, p. 70-3, September.
- BAILEY, A. E. W., KIMBERLEY, I. E., and WARD, S. G., 1954, Chemical constitution of coal. I. Preparation and properties of humic acids from coal: Fuel, v. 33, p. 209-21.
- BAILEY, A. E W., KIMBERLEY, I. E., TURNER, L., and WARD, S. G., 1955, Chemical constitution of coal. II. Preparation of sub-humic acids from humic acids by oxidation in the presence of alkali: Fuel, v. 34, p. 37-49.
- BANGHAM, D. H. and DRYDEN, I. G. C., 1950, Accessible oxygen of bituminous coals: Fuel, v. 29, p. 291-2.
- BASTICK, MARTHE, 1954, The oxidation of coal at low temperatures: Bull. soc. chim. France, p. 1239-46.
- BECK, KURT-GÜNTHER, 1954, Paper chromatography in the chemistry of coal oxidation products: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 35, p. 275-9.
- BEET, A. E., 1940, A further study of the Kjeldahl process—pyridine carboxylic acids from coal: Fuel, v. 19, p. 108-9.
- BELCHER, R., 1948a, Anodic oxidation of coal. I. Introduction and preliminary experiments: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 67, p. 213-16.
- BELCHER, R., 1948b, Anodic oxidation of coal. II. Effect of oxidizing vitrain and ulmic acids at various metal anodes: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 67, p. 217-18.
- BELCHER, R., 1948c, Anodic oxidation of coal. III. Examination of the water-soluble acids: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 67, p. 218-21.

- BELCHER, R., 1948d, Anodic oxidation of coal. IV. Examination of the ulmic acids: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 67, p. 265-7.
- BELCHER, R., 1948e, Anodic oxidation of coal. V. Miscellaneous experiments: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 67, p. 267-70.
- BÉNÉZECH, LOUIS P. J. M., 1939, Limited oxidation and subsequent coking of coking coals: U. S. Patent 2,167,100, July 25.
- BENNING, A., 1955a, The importance of nitric acid oxidation in clarification of the constitution of coal: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 36, p. 38-43.
- BENNING, A., 1955b, Preliminary notice: Quantitative determination of the low-molecular acids in the oxidation products of coal: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 36, p. 120.
- BERGMANN, GERHARD, HUCK, C., KARWEIL, J., and LUTHER, H., 1954, Infrared spectra of coals: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 35, p. 175-6.
- Bergwerksverband zur Verwertung von Schutzrechten der Kohlentechnik G.m.b.H. (GÜNTER BRACHT, BERNHARD JÜTTNER, and OTTO REGEL, inventors), 1943, Oxidizing treatment of coal with acids, such as nitric acid: German Patent 870,998, March 19; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 6774c.
- Bergwerksverband zur Verwertung von Schutzrechten der Kohlentechnik G.m.b.H., 1955, Benzenecarboxylic acids from carbonaceous material: British Patent 735,885, August 31; Chem. Abst. 1956, v. 50, col. 8730f.
- BERKOWITZ, N. and SCHEIN, H. G., 1951, Heats of wetting and the spontaneous ignition of coal: Fuel, v. 30, p. 94-6.
- BERMAN, NATHAN and HOWARD, H. C., 1949, Watersoluble polycarboxylic acids from oxidation of bituminous coal—determination of molecular weights: Anal. Chem., v. 21, p. 1200-1202.
- BERMAN, NATHAN and HOWARD, H. C., 1950, Esters of the water-soluble polycarboxylic acids from oxidation of bituminous coal: Fuel, v. 29, p. 109-11.
- BLASKETT, D. R., 1948, Spontaneous heating of coal: Australia (South), Dept. Mines, Mining Rev., no. 86, p. 60-79; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 9134b.
- BODMER, G., 1941, Change of coal in storage: Schweiz. Ver. Gas- u. Wasserfach., Monatsbull., v. 21, p. 101-10.
- BOGOYAVLENSKIĬ, V. V. and PETRENKO, V. G., 1957, The determination of the degree of resistance of coals to oxidation: Koks i Khim., p. 3-7; Chem. Abst., 1957, v. 51, col. 9125e.
- BONE, WILLIAM A. and HIMUS, G. W., 1936, Coal: Its Constitution and Uses: Longmans, Green, and Co., London, chapter XI, p. 181-93.

- BONE, WILLIAM A. and QUARENDON, R., 1926, Researches on the chemistry of coal. IV. Oxidation of the residue from the benzene-pressure-extraction process: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), v. 110A, p. 537-42.
- BOYER, A. F., 1956, The controlled oxidation of coal: Paper presented at the conference on "Chemical Engineering in the Coal Industry," Stoke Orchard, England, June 26-29; Nature, v. 178, no. 4539, p. 900.
- BRACHT, GÜNTER, JÜTTNER, B., and REGEL, O. See Bergwerksverband, etc., 1943.
- BREWER, R. E., REYNOLDS, D. A., STEINER, W. A., and VAN GILDER, R. D., 1948, Carbonizing properties of coking coals: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 40, p. 1243-54.
- BRODERICK, S. J. and BOGARD, DALE, 1941, Carbonaceous cation exchangers from coal and coal refuse: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest, no. 3559, 17 pp.
- BROOKS, J. D. and MAHER, T. P., 1954, Direct titration of acidic groupings in coal: Research (London), v. 7, p. S30-31.
- BROOKS, J. D. and MAHER, T. P., 1957, Acidic oxygen-containing groups in coal: Fuel, v. 36, p. 51-62.
- BROOKS, V. T., LAWSON, G. J., and WARD, S. G., 1956, Chemical constitution of coal. III. Oxidation of humic acid with hydogen peroxide in the absence of added mineral reagents: Fuel, v. 35, p. 385-97.
- BROWN, J. K., 1955, The infrared spectra of coals: J. Chem. Soc., p. 744-52.
- BUDRYK, WITOLD, 1952, Tendency of coals to spontaneous combustion in the light of recent scientific achievements: Przeglad Górniczy, v. 8 (39), p. 443-6; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 14157a.
- BUNTE, K. and KÖLMEL, A., 1922, Ignition temperatures of coke: Gas- u. Wasserfach, v. 65, p. 592-4; Chem. Abst., 1923, v. 17, p. 335.
- Carnegie Institute of Technology, 1950, Organic acids: British Patent 635,088, April 5; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 7046d.
- CASAMASSIMA, G. and MEO, F., 1951, Oxidation of coal: Riv. combustibili, v. 5, p. 143-55; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 7774h.
- CHAKRAVORTY, S. L., 1955, Problems of spontaneous oxidation of coal: Indian Mining J., v. 3, no. 9, p. 117-21, 116; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 8165b.
- CHAKRAVORTY, S. L., LONG, R. and WARD, S. G., 1950, Formation and decomposition of peroxygen in low temperature air-oxidation of coals: Fuel, v. 29, p. 68-9.
- CHALK, J. H., 1944, Utilisation of mixed slacks and fines: Brit. Coal Utilisation Research Assoc., Problems in the utilisation of small coals, p. 187-92; Chem. Abst., 1945, v. 39, col. 4212.³
- CHALUPA, V. and DRÁBEK, V., 1955, A method for the determination of the tendency of coal to selfignition: Uhli, v. 5, p. 310-19; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 1289f.
- CHEREAU, JEAN, 1952, A thermogravimetric study of the air oxidation of a coal between 100° and 270°: Compt. rend., v. 234, p. 1165-6.

- CHOWDHURY, J. K. and BISWAS, ANIL BHUSAN, 1942, Aerial oxidation of coal; distribution of oxygen and carbon in coal and its oxidation products: J. Indian Chem. Soc., v. 19, p. 289-98.
- CLARK, L. J. and WALKER, J. H., 1951, The storage of coal and coke in the gas industry: Inst. Gas. Engrs., Copyright Pub. no. 386, 50 pp.; Gas World, v. 133, p. 616-22.
- COLLET, A., 1946, Mineralogical notes: Bull. mens. soc. linnéenne Lyon, v. 15, p. 19-23; Chem. Abst., 1946, v. 40, col. 4003⁶.
- Constantinides, Giorgio, 1946, Coal-oxidation measurements: Ann. triestini, v. 18, no. 1/2, p. 3-18; Pubb. facolta sci. e ing. univ. Trieste, 1947, Ser. B, no. 13; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 8345f.
- CRENNAN, J. M., 1950, Oxidation and spontaneous ignition of brown coal: Australia (South), Dept. Mines, Mining Rev., no. 93, p. 70-5; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 9041e.
- DAVIS, JOSEPH D., 1945, Carbonizing, expanding, and oxidation properties of coal. Bureau of Mines Coal Carbonization Laboratory, 1944-45: Am. Gas Assoc., Proc., v. 27, p. 426-36.
- DAVIS, J. D. and BYRNE, J. F., 1925, Spontaneous combustion of coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 17, p. 125-30.
- DAVIS, J. D., REYNOLDS, D. A., BREWER, R. E., NAU-GLE, B. W., and WOLFSON, D. E., 1947, Effect of oxidation upon the carbonizing properties of Pocahontas No. 3 - and No. 4 - bed coals from Eastgulf, Raleigh County, W. Va.; U. S. Bur. Mines, Tech. Paper no. 702, 14 pp.
- DELAROZIERE, F., 1944, Complete demineralization of water by ion removers: J. usines gaz, v. 68, no. 7, p. 77; Chim. & ind. (Paris), 1945, v. 53, p. 329; Chem. Abst., 1946, v. 40, col. 3209^{*}.
- DE WAARD. See WAARD, S. DE
- DHAR, N. R. and AGARWAL, C. P., 1952, Oxidation of coal in soil with or without easily oxidizable organic material: Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., India, v. 21A, p. 273-8; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 12353f.
- DOBINSON, F., LAWSON, G. J., and WARD, S. G., 1956, Chemical constitution of coal. IV. Oxidation of alkaline solutions of humic acid with ozone: Fuel, v. 35, p. 398-408.
- DONATH, ERNEST E., 1956, Gasification of fuels: U. S. Patent 2,751,287, June 19.
- DOORNUM, G. A. W. VAN, 1954, The spontaneous heating of coal: J. Inst. Fuel, v. 27, p. 482-95.
- DREWRY, M. K., 1937, Prevention of spontaneous heating of large coal piles: Combustion, v. 8, no. 8, p. 28-32.
- DUUREN, B. L. VAN, 1951a, Nitric acid oxidation of coal. II. Ether-insoluble constituents—humic acids and the neutral ether-insoluble product: J. S. African Chem. Inst. (N.S.), v. 4, no. 1, p. 35-36.
- DUUREN, B. L. VAN, 1951b, The nitric acid oxidation of coal. III. Investigation of a chromatographically separated nitrohumic acid fraction: J. S. African Chem. Inst. (N.S.), v. 4, no. 2, p. 17-34.

- DUUREN, B. L. VAN, 1953, The nitric acid oxidation of coal. IV. Application of the graphical-statistical method to the interpretation of the investigations on the nitrohumic acids: J. S. African Chem. Inst. (N. S.), v. 6, p. 31-5.
- DUUREN, B. L. VAN and WARREN, F. L., 1950, Nitric acid oxidation of coal. I. Identification of some components of the ether-soluble fraction: J. S. African Chem. Inst. (N. S.), v. 3, p. 67-72.
- EDDINGER, R. TRACY and DEMOREST, D. J., 1947, The oxidation of coal by electrolysis: Fuel, v. 26, p. 157-9.
- ECOROVA, O. I., 1942, Application of the permanganate-number method to determination of the degree of oxidation of coal: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., no. 7-8, p. 107-15; Chem. Abst., 1944, v. 38, col. 4404⁶.
- ELDER, J. L., SCHMIDT, L. D., STEINER, W. A., and DAVIS, J. D., 1945, Relative spontaneous heating tendencies of coals: U. S. Bur. Mines, Tech. Paper, no. 681, 24 pp.
- ELLIS, R. H., 1943, Keep coal piles from catching fire: Ind. Heating, v. 10, p. 206, 208, 210, 216.
- ENTEL, JACOB, 1954, Nuclear structure of the watersoluble polycarboxylic acids from the oxidation of bituminous coal. The hydrogenolysis reaction: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 76, p. 3646-49.
- ENTEL, JACOB, 1955, Nuclear structure of the watersoluble polycarboxylic acids from the oxidation of bituminous coal. The decarboxylation reaction: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 77, p. 611-15.
- ENTEL, JACOB, RUOF, CLARENCE H., and HOWARD, H. C., 1952, The nature of oxygen in coal: preparation and properties of phthalan: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 74, p. 441-4.
- ENTEL, JACOB, RUOF, CLARENCE H., and HOWARD, H. C., 1953. Possible significance of lactones as intermediates in oxidation of carbonaceous materials: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 75, p. 3038-9.
- FARENDEN, P. J. and SPENCER, D. H. T., 1955, Relationship between specific volume and hydrogen content of a progressively oxidized coal: Fuel, v. 34, p. 131-2.
- FRANKE, N. W. and KIEBLER, M. W., 1946, Organic acids by direct oxidation of coal: Chem. Inds., v. 58, p. 580-1.
- FRANKE, N. W., KIEBLER, M. W., RUOF, C. H., SAV-ICH, T. R., and HOWARD, H. C., 1952, Watersoluble polycarboxylic acids by oxidation of coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 44, p. 2784-92.
- FREY, WALTER A., 1943, The aging of coal: Oel u. Kohle, v. 39, p. 603-15.
- FRIEDMAN, LOUIS D. and KINNEY, CORLISS R., 1950, Humic acids from coal. Controlled air-oxidation of coals and carbons at 150° to 400°: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 42, p. 2525-9.
- FUCHS, WALTER M., 1944, Oxidation of coal, as for the production of additional furfural-soluble compounds: U. S. Patent 2,338,634, January 4.
- FUCHS, WALTER, POLANSKY, T. S., and SANDHOFF, A. G., 1943, Coal oxidation: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 35, p. 343-5.

- FUCHS, W., GAUGER, A. W., HSIAO, C. C., and WRIGHT, C. C., 1938, The chemistry of the petrographic constituents of bituminous coal. I. Studies on fusain: Penna. State Coll., Mineral Ind. Expt. Sta., Bull. no. 23, 43 pp.
- FUJIMOTO, TADAO, TAKASHIMA, SHIRO, and WATA-NABE, AKIRA, 1956, Nitric acid oxidation of carbonaceous materials: Repts. Himeji Tech. Coll., no. 6, p. 72-6; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 17390d.
- FUNASAKA, WATARU, YOKOKAWA, CHIKAO, KAJIYAMA, SHICERU, and FUKAURA, HIDEO, 1952, Chemistry of coal. VIII. Oxidation of cellulose coal with alkaline permanganate: J. Chem. Soc. Japan, Ind. Chem. Sect., v. 55, p. 35-6; Chem. Abst., 1953, v. 47, col. 9592c.
- GEORGIADIS, C. and GAILLARD, G., 1953, The kinetics and the mechanism of oxidation of coal: Chim. & ind. (Paris), v. 70, p. 383-96.
- GEORGIADIS, C. and GAILLARD, G., 1954, The influence of the oxygen content of coal on certain physical-chemical properties: Compt. rend. 27e congr. intern. chim. ind., Brussels 1954 2; Ind. chim. belge, 1955, v. 20, Spec. no., p. 58-61; Chem. Abst. 1956, v. 50, col. 15047i.
- GILLET, A., 1951, The solubility-conferring oxidation of coal: Fuel, v. 30, p. 181-7.
- GILLET, A. and FASTRE, M. L., 1944, Studies of the changes of coal on aeration: Bull. soc. chim. Belges, v. 53, p. 83-96.
- GILLET, A. C., CHANDELON, P., and GILLET, I. E., 1955, Anthraxylic acid as an adsorbent for Fe⁺⁺: Compt. rend. 27^e congr. intern. chim. ind., Brussels, 1954, 2^e; Ind. chim. Belge, v. 20, spec. no., p. 95-9; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 16632f.
- GOEDKOOP, MARTINUS L., 1956, Cation-exchange material from coal: U. S. Patent 2,735,819, February 21.
- GOCITIDZE, T. A. and PLAKSIN, I. N., 1956, The influence of the surface oxidation of some bituminous coals upon their flotability: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 11, p. 77-81; Chem. Abst., 1957, v. 51, col. 9126a.
- GOMEZ, MANUEL, GOODMAN, JOHN B., and PARRY, V. F., 1956, Effect of oxidation on carbonization yields of a Texas lignite: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest., no. 5277, 17 pp.
- GONZÁLEZ SÁNCHEZ, FELIPE, 1954, The oxidation of coal to water-soluble products, considered in relation to its constitution: Combustibles (Zaragoza), v. 14, no. 71, p. 3-39; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 3733b.
- GONZÁLEZ SÁNCHEZ, F., 1955, The oxidation of a sub-bituminous coal with alkaline potassium permanganate: Parts 1 and 2: Combustibles (Zaragoza), v. 15, p. 273-305, 361-94; Bull. Brit. Coal Utilisation Research Assoc., 1956, v. 20, p. 334.
- GOODMAN, JOHN B., PARRY, V. F., and LANDERS, W. S., 1946, Storage of sub-bituminous slack coal in open pits: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest., no. 3915, 37 pp.
- GRAHAM, J. IVON and RAYBOULD, W. E., 1932, The spontaneous firing of coal with special reference

to North Warwickshire seams: Trans. Inst. Mining Engrs. (London), v 83, p. 89-101.

- GRIGOR'EV, M. YU., 1940, The mechanism of the oxidation of coal by the oxygen of the air and the reason for its spontaneous combustion. XII. The effect of carbon tetrachloride on the oxidizability of coals: Izvest. Tomsk. Ind. Inst., v. 60, no. 3, p. 57-9; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 1030¹.
- GRICOR'EV, M. YU. and PLEKHANOVA, A. I., 1940, The mechanism of the oxidation of coal by the oxygen of the air and the reason for its spontaneous combustion. XI. The application of ferric chloride and ferric sulfate for the determination of the reduction and adsorption properties of coals: Izvest. Tomsk. Ind. Inst., v. 60, no. 3, p. 53-6; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 1029°.
- GRIGOR'EV, M. YU. and SEMENOVA, K. K., 1940, The mechanism of the oxidation of coal by the oxygen of the air and the reason for its spontaneous combustion. X. Gaseous products of the oxidation of coals and changes in the bituminous part of coal during its oxidation by the air: Izvest. Tomsk. Ind. Inst., v. 60, no. 3, p. 50-2; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 1029^s.
- GROSSKINSKY, OTTO, 1950, New knowledge of the action of oxygen on coal: Glückauf, v. 86, p. 988-95.
- GROSSKINSKY, OTTO, 1952, Oxidation of bituminous coal with nitric acid: Glückauf, v. 88, p. 376-9
- HEADLEE, A. J. W. and HUNTER, RICHARD G., 1955, Characteristics of minable coals of West Virginia. Part V, The inorganic elements in the coals: West Virginia Geol. Survey, v. XIII (A), p. 36-122.
- HEATHCOAT, F., 1933, The reactivity of coal: the permanganate number: Fuel, v. 12, p. 4-9.
- HENZE, HENRY R. and BLAIR, CHARLES M., 1931, The number of isomeric hydrocarbons of the methane series: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 53, p. 3077-85.
- HERBERT, S. A., CHARMBURY, H. B., and KINNEY, C. R., 1948, The nature of acetone-soluble and acetone-insoluble humic acids: Fuel, v. 27, p 168-9.
- HERBERT, WILHELM and TRAMM, HEINRICH, 1956, Fischer-Tropsch synthesis in South Africa: Erdöl u. Kohle, v. 9, p. 363-77.
- HIGUCHI, KOZO and SHIBUYA, YUTAKA, 1954, The airoxidation of lignite humic substances: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 33, p. 366-73; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 11029i.
- HIGUCHI, KOZO and SHIBUYA, YUTAKA, 1955, Air oxidation of humic substances of lignite. II. Analysis of volatile products: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 34, p. 286-92; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 12816d.
- HIGUCHI, KOZO and TSUYUGUCHI, M., 1954, Study of lignite humic acids. II. Methylation of humic acids: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 33, p. 373-9; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 11030b.
- HIGUCHI, KOZO, TSUYUGUCHI, MICHIO, and ASA-KAWA, KAZUO, 1955, Lignite humic acids. III. Nitro humic acids: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 34, p. 645-53; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 10044c.
- HIGUCHI, KOZO, ARAI, TAKUZO, TSUYUGUCHI, MICHIO, and Asakawa, Kazuo, 1956, Slight decomposi-

tion of lignite by dilute nitric acid. I. Best conditions for obtaining the nitro-humic acids and similar compounds: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 35, p. 404-10; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 17383e.

- HIRST, L. L., 1945, Methanol synthesis from water gas: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 40, p. 1846-68, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- HOEVEN, B. J. C. VAN DER, 1945, Producers and producer gas: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 36, p. 1586-1672, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- HOLLY, E. D. and MONTGOMERY, R. S., 1956, Structures of the water-soluble acids obtained by the alkali-oxygen oxidation of bituminous coal. I. Chromatographic fractionation: Fuel, v. 35, p. 49-55.
- HOLLY, E. D., MONTGOMERY, R. S., and GOHLKE, R. S.; 1956, Structures of the water-soluble acids obtained by the alkali-oxygen oxidation of bituminous coal. II. Spectrographic studies of the methyl esters: Fuel, v. 35, p. 56-9.
- Howard, HENRY C., 1939, Organic acids from oxidation of coal, coke, etc.: U. S. Patent 2,176,343, October 17.
- HOWARD, H. C., 1945a, Chemical constitution of coal: As determined by oxidation reactions: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. I, chapter 9, p. 346-76, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- HOWARD, H. C., 1945b, Direct generation of electricity from coal and gas (fuel cells): *in* LOWRY,
 H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 35, p. 1568-85, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- HOWARD, H. C., 1947, Low-temperature reactions of oxygen on bituminous coal: Trans. Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., v. 177, p. 523-34.
- Howard, HENRY C., 1951, Organic acids from carbonaceous material: U. S. Patent 2,555,410, June 5.
- HURD, C. D., 1929, The Pyrolysis of Carbon Compounds. Am. Chem. Soc. Monograph no. 50, The Chemical Catalog Co., N. Y., p. 556ff.
- INOUYE, KATSUYA, 1953, Rheology of coal. Part 3. A structural interpretation of coal oxidation from the internal viscosity variations: Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, v. 26, p. 157-60.
- INUKAI, TOYOHARU, 1956, Utilization of oxidation products of lignite: J. Fuel. Soc. Japan, v. 35, p. 301-9; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 17383d.
- JACKMAN, H. W., EISSLER, R. L., and REED, F. H., 1957, Weathering of Illinois coals during storage: Illinois State Geol. Survey, Circ. no. 227, 22 pp.
- JESSEN, HANS EH., 1943, Spontaneous ignition of coal: Gasteknikeren, v. 32, p. 463-71, 481-6; Chem. Abst., 1945, v. 39, col. 1746².
- JONES, R. E. and TOWNEND, D. T. A., 1945a, Mechanism of the oxidation of coal: Nature, v. 155, p. 424-5.
- JONES, R. E. and TOWNEND, D. T. A., 1945b, Mechanism of the oxidation of coal. I, II: Inst. Gas Engrs. (London), Commun. no. 271, 21 p., no. 287, 23 pp.; Chem. Abst., 1946, v. 40, col. 6784°.

- JONES, R. E. and TOWNEND, D. T. A., 1946, The role of oxygen complexes in the oxidation of carbonaceous materials: Trans. Faraday Soc., v. 42, p. 297-305.
- JONES, R. E. and TOWNEND, D. T. A., 1949, Oxidation of coal: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), v. 68, p. 197-201.
- JUETTNER, BERNARD, 1939, Mellitic acid: U. S. Patent 2,176,348, October 17.
- JUETTNER, BERNARD, 1943, Water-soluble aromatic carboxylic acids: German Patent 743,225, November 4; Chem. Abst., 1945, v. 39, col. 2766⁸.
- JÜTTNER, B., 1956, The wet oxidation of bituminous coal: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 37, p. 70-74.
- JURKIEWICZ, JAN, ZIELIŃSKI, HENRYK, and LASKOW-SKA, HALINA, 1954, Characteristics of carbonaceous ion exchangers obtained from varied conditions: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Ser. B, Komun. no. 151, 12 pp.; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 10375g.
- KAMIYA, YOSHIO, 1954, Air oxidation of coal. I. Reaction velocity, oxidation products, and reaction mechanism in fluidized-bed reaction of coal: J. Fuel Soc. Japan, v. 33, p. 412-23; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 14158b.
- KAMIYA, YOSHIO, 1956, Formation of organic acids from bituminous coal by oxidation in alkaline medium: Kôgyô Kagaku Zasshi, v. 59, p. 197-202; Chem. Abst., 1957, v. 51, col. 9124b.
- KARTVELISHVILI, G. A., 1946, Spontaneous inflammability of Tkvibuli coal: Ugol', v. 21, p. 34-5; Chem. Abst. 1947, v. 41, col. 4291b.
- KATZ, MAX and GLENN, R. A., 1952, Sodium aminoethoxide titration of weak acids in ethylenediamine: Anal. Chem., v. 24, p. 1157-63.
- KATZ, S. H. and PORTER, H. C., 1917, Effects of moisture on the spontaneous heating of stored coal: U. S. Bur. Mines, Tech. Paper no. 172, 25 pp.
- KAWANA, YOSHIO and SATO, MUTSURO, 1956, The effect of air oxidation on the sorption of uranium (by coal): Kagaku (Tokyo), v. 26, p. 359; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 13671i.
- KESSLER, M. F., 1955, The oxidation of black coal: Uhlí, v. 5, p. 342-7; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 10373i.
- KHARITONOV, G. V., 1956, Processes which proceed in oxidation of coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk Kazakh. S. S. R., Ser. Khim., no. 9, p. 92-100; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 10373g.
- KHRISANFOVA, A. I., 1949, A method of utilization of permanganate numbers for the determination of the degree of oxidation of coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1116-21; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 7221g.
- KHRISANFOVA, A. I., 1950, The oxidation of bituminous coals: Trudy Inst. Goryuchikh Iskopaemykh, Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 2, p. 179-92; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 4259d.
- KHRISANFOVA, A. I. and SOBOLEVA, G. N., 1955, Composition and property changes in bituminous coals on oxidation and heating: Trudy Inst. Goryuchikh Iskopaemykh, Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R.,

Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, v. 6, p. 43-61; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 16073e.

- KHRISANFOVA, A. I. and SOBOLEVA, G. N., 1956, Changes of coal properties at the oxidizing and heating processes: Khim. i Tekhnol. Topliva, no. 2, p. 45-54; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 13404e.
- KIEBLER, MYRON, 1949, Organic acids from carbonaceous material: U. S. Patent 2,461,740, February 15.
- KINNEY, CORLISS R., 1947, The source of acetic acid obtained by oxidation of coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 69, p. 284-9.
- KINNEY, C. R. and FRIEDMAN, L. D., 1952, Ozonization studies of coal constitution: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 74, p. 57-61.
- KINNEV, C. R. and KERSCHNER, P. M., 1952, Chemical nature of the hydroxyl groups found in humic acids prepared from nitric acid treated bituminous coal: Fuel, v. 31, p. 414-17.
- KINNEY, C. R. and OCKERT, K. F., 1956, Nitric acid oxidation of bituminous coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 48, p. 327-32.
- KINNEY, C R., ECKERD, J. W., REXFORD, PAULINE, and CHARMBURY, H. B., 1948, The distribution of nitrogen in the oxidation products of coals and selected nitrogen compounds: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 70, p. 392-4.
- KLIMOV, B. K., KUKHARENKO, T. A., and CHIBISOVA, K. I., 1953, Thermographic study of humic acids of coal: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 92, p. 963-6; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 4202g.
- KRAMERS, W. J., 1946, The action of oxygen on coal at moderate temperatures: Bull. Brit. Coal Utilisation Research Assoc., v. 10, no. 12, p. 395-404.
- KREULEN, D. J. W., 1943, Formation of carbon dioxide and water in the oxidation of coal: Rec. trav. chim., v. 62, p. 215-21.
- KREULEN, J. W., 1934, The determination of the ignition temperature and the "humic acid curve" of a coal: Fuel, v. 13, p. 55-9.
- KREVELEN, D. W. VAN, 1950, Graphical-statistical method for the study of structure and reaction processes of coal: Fuel, v. 29, p. 269-84.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A., 1949, Separation of the humic acids of coal into fractions: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 68, p. 317-20; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 818d.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A., 1956a, Methods of determination of humic acids in solid mineral fuels: Khim. i Tekhnol. Topliva, no. 5, p. 32-43; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 15045i.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A., 1956b, Method of identification of brown and oxidized coals by the difference in coagulation threshold of their alkali extracts: Zavodskaya Lab., v. 22, p. 661-2; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 16077g.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A. and KHRISANFOVA, A. I., 1947, Reduction and oxidation of coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 863-70; Chem. Abst., 1949, v. 43, col. 4830f.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A. and Ryzhova, Z. A., 1956, Cer tain aspects of weathering of coal in relation to

its petrographic composition: Khim. i Tekhnol. Topliva, no. 4, p. 20-30; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 12440b.

- KUKHARENKO, T. A., LYUBIMOVA, S. L., and SHALY-APINA, A. N., 1956, The possibility of determining the different grades of coal by the extent of their oxidation: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 12, p. 133-6; Chem. Abst., 1957, v. 51, col. 9125g.
- KUKHARENKO, T. A., VVEDENSKAYA, T. E., and BEL-'GOVA, V. A., 1952, The interaction of humic acid of coal with metallic sodium in liquid ammonia: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 86, p. 601-4; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 2949f.
- LAMBA, E. G. and ETTINGER, I. L., 1955, Changes in the sorptive properties of coals resulting from their oxidation: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 4, p. 110-19; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 15209b.
- LAMBRIS, G. and GERDES, J., 1941, Action of boric acid on normal, oxidized, and hydrogenated coal substance: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 22, p. 125-31, 139-42.
- LANGE, W. and WINZEN, W., 1954, Oxidation, weathering, and self-ignition of bituminous coals: Brennstoff-Wärme-Kraft, v. 6, p. 382-5.
- LEFEBVRE, H. and FAIVRE, R., 1936, Oxidation of coal: Compt. rend., v. 203, p. 881-3.
- LEMAIRE, E., 1943, Determination of the tendency of coals to ignite spontaneously in piles: Genie civil, v. 120, p. 269-70.
- LESHER, CARL E., 1937, Carbonizing coal: U. S. Patent 2,080,946, May 18.
- LESHER, C. E., 1940, Production of low-temperature coke by the Disco process: Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., Tech. Publ. no. 1176; Trans. Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., v. 139, p. 328-63.
- LESHER, C. E., 1941, Disco, a smokeless fuel: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 33, p. 858-9.
- LOWRY, H. H., 1945, Pretreatment of coal for carbonization: in LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. I, chapter 23, p. 859-62, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- MACRAE, J. C., 1943, The thermal decomposition of naturally oxidized (outcrop) coal: Fuel, v. 22, p. 93-102.
- MAPSTONE, GEORGE E., 1954a, A spontaneous combustion theory: Chem. & Ind. (London), p. 658.
- MAPSTONE, GEORGE E., 1954b, The weathering of pyrite: Chem. & Ind. (London), p. 577-8.

MARCO. See SANCHEZ MARCO, GODOFREDO.

- MAREVICH, N. V. and TRAVIN, A. B., 1953, Tendency toward spontaneous combustion of petrographic types of coal from Prokop'evsk deposits of Kuzbass: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1110-17; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 2343h.
- MARMADUKE, RICHARD C., 1939, Treating lump coal to inhibit degradation from weathering and handling: U. S. Patent 2,184,621, December 26.
- MARSHALL, C. E. and DRAYCOTT, A., 1954, Preliminary study of the effects of atmospheric oxida-

tion on the yields of primary carbonization products of certain Australian coals: Fuel, v. 33, p. 26-41.

- MAYERS, M. A., 1945, Combustion in fuel beds: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 33, p. 1482-1521, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- MEHTA, M. M., KINI, K. A., MOTRA, A. K., and LA-HIRI, A., 1952, Absorption of oxygen by Indian coals: J. Sci. Ind. Research (India), v. 11B, p. 418-22.
- MEN'SHCHIKOV, F. S. and ROZMANOVA, Z. E., 1955, The luminescence method for the determination of the oxidation state of coal: Zavodskaya Lab., v. 21, p. 1471-4; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 8993c.
- MIGDALSKI, H., 1956, Spontaneous ignition of anthracites: Bergbautech., v. 6, p. 364-70; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 17381e.
- MONTGOMERY, CHARLES W., GILBERT, WM. I., and KLINE, ROBERT E., 1950, Hydraulic fluids: U. S. Patent 2,516,640, July 25.
- MONTGOMERY, R. S. and HOLLY, E. D., 1957, Decarboxylation studies of the structures of the acids obtained by oxidation of bituminous coal: Fuel, v. 36, p. 63-75.
- MONTGOMERY, R. S. and SIENKNECHT, P. J., 1955, Fractionation of water-soluble acids obtained by alkali-oxygen oxidation of coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 47, p. 1274-6.
- MONTGOMERY, R. S., HOLLY, E. D., and GOHLKE, R. S., 1956, Structures of the water-soluble acids obtained by the alkali-oxygen oxidation of bituminous coal. III. Decarboxylation studies: Fuel, v. 35, p. 60-65.
- MORGAN, JEROME J., 1945, Water gas: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 37, p. 1673-1749, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- MUKHERJEE, P. N. and LAHIRI, A., 1956, Rheological properties of humic acid from coal: J. Colloid Sci., v. 11, p. 240-3; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 16073h.
- MUKHERJEE, P. N. and LAHIRI, A., 1957, The role of moisture in the oxidation of coals at low temperatures: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 38, p. 55-8.
- MUKHERJEE, P. N., BHOWMIK, J. N., and LAHIRI, A., 1956, Studies on humic acids from coal: J. Proc. Inst. Chemists (India), v. 28, p. 4-13.
- NEWMAN, L. L. and McGEE, J. P., 1956, Oxygen gasification of coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 48, p. 1112-17.
- Nörzold, E., 1940, Investigation of spontaneous combustion of coal from the petrographic standpoint: Glückauf, v. 76, p. 381-8, 393-7.
- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH, 1948, Studies on the determination of spontaneous ignition of coal: Przeglad Chem., v. 6, p. 258-61; Chem. Abst., 1949, v. 43, col. 9411e.
- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH, 1952, Analysis of results of determination of spontaneous ignition of coals: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 130, 9 pp.; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 14155g.

- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH, 1953, Spontaneous ignition of bituminous coals. IV. Mechanism of the lowtemperature oxidation and evaluation of the tendency of coals to spontaneous ignition in view of preceding investigations: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 139, p. 32-4; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 4804a.
- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH and GABRYŚ, PAWEL, 1953, Spontaneous ignition of bituminous coals. I. Dependence of spontaneous ignition of coals on the sorptive power for nitrogen and oxygen: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 139, p. 4-13; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 4803e.
- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH and PAWLIKOWSKI, TADENSZ, 1953, Spontaneous ignition of bituminous coals. III. Investigations of the spontaneous ignition process on a pilot-plant scale: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 139, p. 20-31; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 4803h.
- OLPIŃSKI, WOJCIECH, PAWLIKOWSKI, TADENSZ, and ROZMUS, JERZY, 1953, Spontaneous ignition of bituminous coals. 11. Changes in composition of the "atmosphere" of coals at the temperature of the beginning spontaneous ignition: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 139, p. 13-20; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 4803g.
- ONUSAITIS, B. A. and KHRISANFOVA, A. I., 1947, Changes in the colloid-chemical structure of coal during oxidation: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 895-900; Chem. Abst., 1949, v. 43, col. 3593b.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1943, Self-heating of coal at low temperatures: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., no. 7, p. 52-61; Chem. Abst., 1945, v. 39, col. 2633^o.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1949a, Oxidation of coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 249-57; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 2200i.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1949b, Periodicity in the process of oxidation of hard coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 748-59; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 2201f.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1949c, The process of oxidation of coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1642-8; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 2202e.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1949d, Spontaneous combustion of coal: Ugol', v. 24, no. 2, p. 10-13; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 5906b.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1950a, Ignition temperature of coals: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 71, p. 331-3; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 10295e.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1950b, Oxidation of hard coal under nonisothermal conditions: Zhur. Priklad. Khim. (J. Applied Chem.), v. 23, p. 306-16; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 2174h.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1950c, Oxidation of hard coal: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 70, p. 445-8; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 5388i.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1950d, Rates of oxidation of Kuznetsk coals: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v.

74, p. 327-30; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 2175f.

- ORESHKO, V. F., 1950e, Study of methods of kinetics of oxidation processes of fossil coals under nonisothermic conditions: Trudy Inst. Goryuchikh Iskopaemykh, Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, v. 2, p. 160-78; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 4259g.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1951a, Oxidation of coals of various degrees of metamorphism: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1031-40; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 10579d.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1951b, Oxidation of petrographic ingredients of hard coal: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 81, p. 663-6; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 9826b.
- ORESHKO, V. F., 1952, Volume oxidation of hard coal: Doklady Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., v. 82, p. 135-8; Chem. Abst., 1953, v. 47, col. 12788b.
- ORESHKO, V. F. and TISLIN, T. S, 1952, Effect of thermal treatment of coal on its oxidation: Zhur. Priklad. Khim. (J. Applied Chem.), v. 25, p. 373-83; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 7303g.
- ORLEANSKAYA, G. L., 1950, Oxidation as a factor in the self-ignition of coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1071-9; Chem. Abst., 1951, v. 45, col. 8739b.
- ORLEANSKAYA, G. L., 1952, Discovery of seats of spontaneous ignition of coals in mines: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 877-83; Chem. Abst., 1953, v. 47, col. 8343a.
- ORNING, A. A., 1945, The combustion of pulverized coal: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 34, p. 1522-67, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- PARR, S. W. and MILNER, R. T., 1925, Storage of coal and spontaneous combustion. Round table discussion. The oxidation of coal at storage temperatures: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 17, p. 115-7.
- PLUMMER, HARRY CHAPIN, 1953, Canada makes phenol, acetone from cumene: Petrol. Engr., v. 25, no. 10, p. C27-32, September.
- PODBEL'SKIĬ, G. N., 1947, Determination of the comparative degree of oxidation of coal: U. S. S. R. (Patent) 69,518, October 31; Chem. Abst., 1949, v. 43, col. 9419b.
- POGREBITSKIĬ, E. O., 1943, Some notes on the spontaneous combustion of fossil coals and on the physicochemical alterations taking place in the zone of conflagration: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Ser. Geol., no. 4/5, p. 129-35; Chem. Abst. 1944, v. 38, col. 6517⁸.
- POLANSKY, T. S. and KINNEY, C. R., 1952, Molecular weights of humic acids prepared from nitric acid treated bituminous coal: Fuel, v. 31, p. 409-13.
- PORTER, HORACE C. and RALSTON, O. C., 1914, A study of the oxidation of coal: U. S. Bur. Mines, Tech. Paper no. 65, p. 21-6.
- RADSPINNER, JOHN A. and HOWARD, H. C., 1943, Determination of the surface oxidation of bituminous coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed., v. 15, p. 566-70.

- RAFIKOV, S. R., 1956, Oxidation of organic compounds. X. Mechanism of processes of autoxidation and spontaneous combustion of coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk Kazakh. S. S. R., Ser. Khim., no. 9, p. 75-91; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 14206c.
- RAFIKOV, S. R. and SIBIRYAKOVA, N. YA., 1956, Oxidation of organic compounds. IX. Determination of active oxygen in solid fuel: Izvest. Akad. Nauk Kazakh. S. S. R., Ser. Khim., no. 9, 13-22; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 8992g.
- REED, F. H., JACKMAN, H. W., REES, O. W., YOHE, G. R. and HENLINE, P. W., 1947, Use of Illinois coal for production of metallurgical coke: Illinois Geol. Survey Bull. 71, p. 10.
- REES, O. W. and KALINOWSKI, M. L., 1939, Some chemical changes in coal samples during storage: Trans. Illinois State Acad. Sci., v. 32, no. 2, p. 120-1.
- REES, O. W. and WAGNER, W. F., 1943, Effect of oxidation on reactivity and swelling of Illinois coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 35, p. 346-8.
- REES, O. W., PIERRON, E. D., and BURSACK, K. F., 1955, Effects of air oxidation on the plastic properties of coals as measured by the Gieseler plastometer: Trans. Illinois State Acad. Sci., v. 47, p. 97-8.
- ROGA, BLAZEJ and IHNATOWICZ, MARIA, 1951, Coal oxidation and determination of curves of humic acids by the Kreulen method: Prace Glównego Inst. Górnictwa, Komun. no. 82, 14 pp.; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 11629d.
- ROMWALTER, ALFRED, 1947, Auto-ignition of Hungarian coals: Magyar Tech., v. 2, p. 21-2; Chem. Abst., 1947, v. 41, col. 7753i.
- Roy, A. N. and Howard, H. C., 1952, Solvent fractionation of polycarboxylic acids from oxidation of coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 74, p. 3239-42.
- Roy, K. L. and DAS, B. B., 1942, Indian coals. VII. The composition of coals in relation to their coking and non-coking nature and the effect of oxidation on their properties: J. Indian Chem. Soc., Ind. & News Ed., v. 4, p. 227-35.
- RUOF, CLARENCE H., SAVICH, T. R., and HOWARD, H. C., 1951, Nuclear structure of the water-soluble polycarboxylic acids from oxidation of bituminous coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 73, p. 3873-9.
- RUSSELL, WILLIAM J., 1909, The action of resin and allied bodies on a photographic plate in the dark: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), v. 80B, p. 376-87.
- SÁNCHEZ. See GONZÁLEZ SÁNCHEZ, F.
- SÁNCHEZ MARCO, GODOFREDO, 1947, Spontaneous oxidation of coal: Combustibles (Zaragoza), v. 7, p. 124-32, 163-70; Chem. Abst., 1948, v. 42. col. 7043f.
- SAVICH, T. R. and HOWARD, H. C., 1952, Oxidation of bituminous coal to organic acids by nitric acid and oxygen: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 44, p. 1409-11.
- SCHMIDT, L. D., 1941, Effects of storage and oxidation of coal upon coking properties: Iron Steel Engr., v. 18, no. 3, p. 64-70.
- SCHMIDT, L. D., 1945, Changes in coal during storage: in LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal

Utilization, v. I, chapter 18, p. 627-76, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.

- SCHMIDT, L. D. and ELDER, J. L., 1940, Atmospheric oxidation of coal at moderate temperatures: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 32, p. 249-56.
- SCHMIDT, L. D., ELDER, J. L., and DAVIS, J. D., 1940, Atmospheric oxidation of coal at moderate temperatures. Effect of oxidation on the carbonizing properties of representative coking coals: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 32, p. 548-55.
- SCHMIDT, L. D., ELDER, J. L., and DAVIS, J. D., 1943, Influence of storage on caking and coking properties of coal: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 35, p. 150-5.
- SCHROEDER, HILDEGARD, 1954, The behavior of coals on heating in an oxygen stream (spontaneous ignition of coals): Brennstoff-Chem., v. 35, p. 14-23.
- SCHULZ, GEORGE and HOWARD, H. C., 1946, Oxidation products of certain petrographic constituents of bituminous coals: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 68, p. 994-6.
- SCOTT, G. S., 1944, Anthracite mine fires: their behavior and control: U. S. Bur. Mines, Bull. no. 455, 206 pp.
- SCOTT, G. S. and JONES, G. W., 1941, Effect of particle size on the rate of oxidation of anthracite: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest., no. 3546, 15 pp.
- SEBASTIAN, J. J. S. and MAYERS, M. A., 1937, Coke reactivity. Determination by a modified ignition point method: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 29, p. 1118-24.
- SEVENSTER, P. G., 1952, The oxygen absorption characteristics of South African coals: J. Chem. Met. Mining Soc. South Africa, v. 53, p. 163-76.
- SHERMAN, J., 1936, Reaction rates of non-isothermal processes: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 28, p. 1026-31.
- SHOTTS, REYNOLD Q., 1950, An oxidation method for investigating the petrographic composition of some coals: Trans. Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., v. 187, Tech. Pub. no. 2867-F; Mining Eng., v. 187, no. 8, p. 889-97.
- SKOCHINSKIĬ, A. A. and MAKAROV, S. Z., 1939a, Selective sorption and chemical methods for combating mine fires originating from spontaneous combustion of coals: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., no. 1, p. 21-38; Chem. Abst., 1940, v. 34, col. 8284⁹.
- SKOCHINSKIĬ, A. A. and MAKAROV, S. Z., 1939b, Investigations of the selective-sorption method and of chemical methods for combating mine fires originating from spontaneous combustion of coals. II: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., no. 2, p. 5-22; Chem. Abst., 1940, v. 34, col. 8285¹.
- SKOCHINSKIJ, A. A., MAKAROV, S. Z., and RODE, T. V., 1944, A differential method for the determination of the liability of coals to spontaneous combustion and some results of its application: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., p. 29-41; Chem. Abst., 1945, v. 39, col. 1974¹.
- SMITH, FRANK W., REYNOLDS, D. A., and BREWER, RALPH E., 1953, Effect of storage on the coking properties of Pond Creek coal from Pike County, Kentucky: Am. Gas Assoc., Proc., v. 35, p. 835-51.
- SMITH, R. C. and HOWARD, H. C., 1935, Equivalent and molecular weights of humic acids from a bituminous coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 57, p. 512-16.

- SMITH, R. C. and HOWARD, H. C., 1936, Molecular weights of polymeric substances in catechol and their bearing on the nature of coal and derived products: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 58, p. 740-2.
- SMITH, R. C., TOMARELLI, R. C., and HOWARD, H. C., 1939, Oxidation of carbonaceous materials to organic acids by oxygen at elevated pressures: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 61, p. 2398-2402.
- SOMMERS, HANS and PETERS, WERNER, 1954, The kinetics of coal oxidation at moderate temperatures: Chem.-Ing.-Tech., v. 26, p. 441-53.
- STAEMMLER, C., 1954, The self-ignition of brown coals and the determination of the iron and sulfur content: Bergbautechnik, v. 4, p. 274-7; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 11757d.
- Standard Oil Development Co., 1950, Oxidation of solid carbonaceous materials: British Patent 636,-033, April 19; Chem. Abst., 1950, v. 44, col. 7515d.
- STOPES, MARIE C., 1919, Studies in the composition of coal. I. The four visible ingredients in banded bituminous coal: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), v. 90B, p. 470-87.
- STOPES, MARIE C. and WHEELER, R. V., 1923a, The spontaneous combustion of coal, 125 pp. (Colliery Guardian Co., Ltd., London).
- STOPES, MARIE C. and WHEELER, R. V., 1923b, The spontaneous combustion of coal in relation to its composition and structure. V. The oxidation and ignition of the ingredients of banded coal: Fuel, v. 2, p. 122-7.
- STORCH, H. H., 1945, Synthesis of hydrocarbons from water gas: *in* LOWRY, H. H., ed., Chemistry of Coal Utilization, v. II, chapter 39, p. 1797-1845, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- SUN, SHIOU-CHUAN, 1954, Effects of oxidation of coals on their flotation properties: Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., Tech. Publ. no. 3681-F; Mining Eng., v. 6, no. 4, p. 396-401.
- SUSTMANN, HEINZ and WEINROTTER, FERDINAND, 1940, Formation of mellitic acid by oxidation with fuming nitric acid of brown coal, brown coal semicoke, and carbon from decomposition of carbon monoxide: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 21, p. 245-6.
- SZÁDECZKY-KARDOSS, ELEMÉR, 1944, Spontaneous combustion and decomposition of coals from a petrographic point of view: Bányász. és Kohász. Lapok, v. 77, p. 241-7, 253-60; Chem. Abst., 1948, v. 42, col. 2081a.
- TANAKA, MASAO and YAMASAKI, TOYOHIKO, 1955, Heat evolution of coal at its initial stage of spontaneous combustion: J. Mining Inst. Japan, v. 71, p. 633-7; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 17380b.
- TAWADA, KWAN and KAWAI, NOBUO, 1941, Estimation of alkali-soluble matter in air-oxidized coal: J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, v. 44, p. 350B-351B.
- TAYLOR, R. A. A., 1941, The storage of coal for industrial purposes: J. Inst. Fuel, v. 14, p. 144-7.
- TEICHMANN, R. F. J., 1945, Oxidation of pyrites in coal: S. African Mining Eng. J., v. 56, p. 99-103; Chem. Abst., 1946, v. 40, col. 3583⁶.
- TERPOGOSOVA, E. A., 1954, Inhibitors of low-temperature oxidation of bituminous coal: Izvest.

Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 4, p. 147-51; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 4968i.

- THOMAS, D. G. A., 1953, The measurement of oxidation of coal by static electrification: Brit. J. Appl. Phys., v. 4, suppl. no. 2, p. S55.
- THOMPSON, RALPH B., 1940, α-Tetralone: in Allen, C. F. H., ed., Organic Syntheses, v. 20, p. 94-6, John Wiley and Sons, N. Y.
- TIDESWELL, F. V. and WHEELER, R. V., 1920, The oxidation of the ingredients of banded bituminous coal. Studies in the composition of coal: J. Chem. Soc., v. 117, p. 794-801.
- TITOV, N. G., KHRISANFOVA, A. I., KANAVETS, P. I., and SMIRNOV, R. N., 1956, The properties of coals dangerous and safe with respect to sudden ejections: Khim. i Tekhnol. Topliva, no. 1, p. 43-9; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 10373c.
- TOLEDO, FERNANDO GRACIA M., 1954, Spontaneous combustion of coal: Ion, v. 14, p. 263-8; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 12389i.
- TRONOV, B. V., 1940a, The mechanism of the oxidation of coal by the oxygen of the air and the reason for its spontaneous combustion: VI. : Izvest. Tomsk. Ind. Inst., v. 60, no. 3, p. 11-36; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 1029⁴.
- TRONOV, B. V., 1940b, The phenol theory of oxidation of coal: J. Appl. Chem. (U. S. S. R.), v. 13, p. 1053-8; Chem. Abst., 1941, v. 35, col. 1966⁵.
- TRONOV, B. V. and GRIGOR'EV, M. YU., 1940, The mechanism of the oxidation of coal by the oxygen of the air and the reason for its spontaneous combustion. IX. Iodine numbers of coal: Izvest. Tomsk. Ind. Inst., v. 60, no. 3, p. 46-9; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 1029⁷.
- TUTURINA, V. V. and KAIGORODTSEVA, R. A., 1953, Solution of Irkutsk Basin coals in organic solvents: Izvest. Fiz.-khim. nauch.-issled. Inst. Irkutsk. Univ., v. 3, no. 1/2, p. 42-8; Bull. Brit. Coal Utilisation Research Assoc., 1956, v. 20, p. 418.
- UPOROVA, E. P. and RAFIKOV, S. R., 1956, Determination of carboxyl and phenolic groups in coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk Kazakh. S. S. R., Ser. Khim., no. 9, p. 23-32; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 8992i.
- VAN DER HOEVEN. See HOEVEN, B. J. C. VAN DER
- VAN DOORNUM. See DOORNUM, G. A. W. VAN
- VAN DUUREN. See DUUREN, B. L. VAN
- VAN KREVELEN. See KREVELEN, D. W. VAN
- VAN VUCHT. See VUCHT, H. A. VAN
- VESELOVSKIĬ, V. S. and ORLEANSKAYA, G. L., 1951, The initial state of oxidation in hard coal: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1041-5; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 10579c.
- VESELOVSKIĬ, V. S. and ORLEANSKAYA, G. L., 1954, Initial oxidation stage of bituminous coals as a surface phenomenon: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 4, p. 140-6; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 4968g.
- VESELOVSKIĬ, V. S. and TERPOGOSOVA, E. A., 1950, The temperature of ignition of coals as a characteristic of their tendency toward self-ignition:

Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1204-11; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 1227d.

- VESELOVSKIĬ, V. S. and TERPOGOSOVA, E. A., 1953, Dependence of oxidation of mineral fuels on temperature: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 905-9; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 2343b.
- VESELOVSKIĬ, V. S. and TERPOGOSOVA, E. A., 1954, A correlation of the plastometric and the kindling temperature lowering methods for the estimation of the degree of oxidation of coking coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, no. 12, p. 140-1; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 11641h.
- VIRTALA, VOITTO, OKSANEN, S., and FRILUND, F., 1949, Spontaneous ignition and its occurrence. Methods for the determination of the tendency to spontaneous ignition: Valtion Tek. Tutkimuslaitos, Julkaisu, v. 14, 57 pp.; Chem. Abst., 1952, v. 46, col. 7770i.
- VOLOGDIN, M. V., 1937, Oxidized coal: Khim. Tverdogo Topliva, v. 8, p. 844-52; Chem. Abst., 1938, v. 32, col. 5186³.
- VOLOGDIN, M. V. and KAMENDROVSKAYA, E. A., 1936, A method for the determination of the degree of oxidation of coal: Khim. Tverdogo Topliva, v. 7, p. 22-31; Chem. Abst., 1939, v. 33, col. 6024⁴.
- VUCHT, H. A. VAN, RIETVELD, B. J., and KREVELEN, D. W. VAN, 1955, Chemical structure and properties of coal. VIII. Infrared absorption spectra: Fuel, v. 34, p. 50-9.
- WAARD, S. DE, 1941, Weathering and heat retention of fuels: Brennstoff- u. Wärmewirtsch., v. 23, p. 73-8; Chem. Abst., 1941, v. 35, col. 6764^{*}.
- WALTON, W. H., THOMAS, D. G. A., and KNOWLES, B. G., 1953, Method and apparatus for measuring the degree of oxidation of coal: British Patent 733,000, application date January 9; Bull. Brit. Coal Utilisation Research Assoc., 1955, v. 19, p. 581.
- WARD, J. J., KIRNER, W. R., and HOWARD, H. C., 1945, Alkaline permanganate oxidation of certain condensed cyclic compounds including coal: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 67, p. 246-53.
- WARD, STACY G., 1956, Products of the mild oxidative degradation of coals: Brennstoff-Chem., v. 37, p. 99-100.
- WEBER, TH., 1941, Changes in Upper Silesian coal stored in piles: Bergbau, v. 54, p. 299-303; Chem. Abst., 1943, v. 37, col. 3583⁹.
- WHEELER, R. V., 1918, The oxidation and ignition of coal: J. Chem. Soc., v. 113, p. 945-55.
- WHEELER, R. V. and WOOLHOUSE, T. G., 1932, Effect of oxidation on coking properties of coal: Fuel, v. 11, p. 44-55.
- WILDENSTEIN, RAOUL, 1953, Contribution to the study of the atmospheric alteration of coals. Aging: Chaleur & ind., v. 34, p. 233-6; Chem. Abst., 1953, v. 47, col. 12788d.
- WINMILL, T. F., 1914-15, The absorption of oxygen by coal. II. The quantity of oxygen absorbed: Trans. Inst. Mining Engrs. (London), v. 48, p. 503-7.

- YAMASAKI, TOYOHIKO, 1953, The oxidation of coal. I. The absorption of oxygen: J. Mining Inst. Japan, v. 69, p. 253-8; Chem. Abst., 1954, v. 48, col. 11756g.
- YOHE, G. R., 1950, Coal oxidation: Active oxygen and Russell effect: Fuel, v. 29, p. 163-5.
- YOHE, G. R. and BLODGETT, EVA O., 1947, Reaction of coal with oxygen in the presence of aqueous sodium hydroxide. Effect of methylation with dimethyl sulfate: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 69, p. 2644-8; reprinted as Illinois State Geol. Survey Circ. no. 139.
- YOHE, G. R. and HARMAN, C. A., 1939, Preparation of humic acids from Illinois coal: Trans. Illinois State Acad. Sci., v. 32, no. 2, p. 134-6.
- YOHE, G. R. and HARMAN, C. A., 1941, The oxidizing power of Illinois Coal. I. The reaction with titanous chloride: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 63, p. 555-6; reprinted as Illinois State Geol. Survey Circ. no. 70.
- YOHE, G. R. and WILT, M. H., 1942a, The oxidizing power of Illinois Coal. II. The effects of extended time: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 64, p. 1809-11; reprinted as Illinois State Geol. Survey Circ. no. 84.
- YOHE, G. R. and WILT, M. H., 1942b, The oxidizing power of Illinois Coal. III. The banded ingredients of Franklin County (No. 6) coal: Paper presented before the Division of Gas and Fuel Chemistry of the American Chemical Society, Buffalo, N. Y., Sept. 9, 1942; Unpublished reports on open file. I. Mineral fuels: Illinois State Geol. Survey, Circ. no. 201, GRY-3, 6 pp., 2 pls.
- YOHE, G. R., ORGANIST, R. H., and LANSFORD, MYRA W., 1951-52, Absorption of oxygen by coal. The effects of low temperatures and of added antioxidants: Unpublished reports on open file. I. Mineral Fuels: Illinois State Geol. Survey Circ. no. 201, GRY-2, 21 pp.
- YOHE, G. R., HILL, D. R., DUNBAR, J. E., and SCHEIDT, F. M., 1953, Coal oxidation. Comparative studies on phenols: J. Am. Chem. Soc., v. 75, p. 2688-93.
- YOHE, G. R., WILT, M. H., KAUFFMAN, H. F., and BLODGETT, EVA O., 1955, Air oxidation, phenolic group content, and coking properties of Illinois coal: Trans. Illinois State Acad. Sci., v. 47, p. 77-80.
- YULE, J. A. C. and WILSON, C. P., JR., 1931, Peroxides and gum in gasoline: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 23, p. 1254-9.
- ZABAVIN, V. I., GORDIENKO, N. P., KLEĬMENOVA, L. A., RUSSIANOVA, N. D., SURKOVA, V. I., and SHARYP-KINA, M. YA., 1956, Chemical composition of coal and its changes during oxidation: Khim. **i** Tekhnol. Topliva, no. 5, p. 23-31; Chem. Abst. 1956, v. 50, col. 14204i.
- ZABRAMNYI, D. T. and TADZHIEV, A. T., 1955, Ascertation of the oxidation stage of coals by the gas products of their low-temperature carboniza-

tion: Trudy Inst. Khim., Akad. Nauk Uzbek. S. S. R., no. 6, p. 3-14; Chem. Abst., 1957, v. 51, col. 9126h.

- ZAGREBEL'NAYA, V. S., 1946, Effect of oxidation on the pour weight of coal and on the effectiveness of wetting it with hydrocarbon liquids: Bull. acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Classe sci. tech., p. 157-66; Chem. Abst., 1946, v. 40, col. 4866³.
- ZASHKVARA, V. G. and KRYM, E. S., 1953, Controlling the degree of oxidation of coking coals: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S. S. S. R., Otdel. Tekh. Nauk, p. 1819-25; Chem. Abst., 1955, v. 49, col. 7225i.
- ZAVARZINA, N. B., 1956, Significance of microbiological processes in spontaneous heating of piled coal: Mikrobiologiya, v. 25, p. 200-207; Chem. Abst., 1956, v. 50, col. 12439i.

Illinois State Geological Survey Report of Investigations 207 $51\ \mathrm{p.,}\ 1958$